Otterbein University

Digital Commons @ Otterbein

Undergraduate Honors Thesis Projects

Student Research & Creative Work

Spring 2023

Just Choices? Judicial Selection, Ideology, and Partisanship in the Ohio Supreme Court

Margo D'Agostino margodag32@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.otterbein.edu/stu_honor

Part of the American Politics Commons, Constitutional Law Commons, Courts Commons, Higher Education Commons, Judges Commons, Jurisdiction Commons, Jurisprudence Commons, Law and Politics Commons, Legal Ethics and Professional Responsibility Commons, Legal History Commons, Legal Writing and Research Commons, Legislation Commons, and the Public Affairs, Public Policy and Public Administration Commons

Recommended Citation

D'Agostino, Margo, "Just Choices? Judicial Selection, Ideology, and Partisanship in the Ohio Supreme Court" (2023). *Undergraduate Honors Thesis Projects*. 161.

https://digitalcommons.otterbein.edu/stu_honor/161

This Honors Paper is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Research & Creative Work at Digital Commons @ Otterbein. It has been accepted for inclusion in Undergraduate Honors Thesis Projects by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ Otterbein. For more information, please contact digitalcommons07@otterbein.edu.

Otterbein University

Digital Commons @ Otterbein

Undergraduate Honors Thesis Projects

Student Research & Creative Work

Spring 2023

Just Choices? Judicial Selection, Ideology, and Partisanship in the Ohio Supreme Court

Margo D'Agostino

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.otterbein.edu/stu_honor

Just Choices? Judicial Selection, Ideology, and Partisanship in the Ohio Supreme Court

by

Margo D'Agostino

Department of Political Science

Otterbein University

Westerville, Ohio 43081

April 17, 2023

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for graduation with Honors

Rachel Schwartz	RHAST
Honors Advisor	Advisor's Signature
Nick Robinson	nichter Moun
Second Reader	Second Reader's Signature
Andrew Mills	Andrewlile
Honors Representative	Honors Rep's Signature

Just Choices? Judicial Selection, Ideology, and Partisanship in the Ohio Supreme Court

Margo D'Agostino

Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
ABSTRACT	4
LIST OF TABLES	5
INTRODUCTION	5
LITERATURE REVIEW	9
Understanding Selection Method	9
Other Potential Impacts	12
History of Judicial Selection	16
Modern Judicial Climate	19
HYPOTHESES	22
X ₁ : Public opinion hypotheses	23
X ₂ : Friends of the court hypotheses	24
X ₃ : "Show me the money" hypotheses	26
X4: Party pressure hypotheses.	27
METHODOLOGY (PROCESS TRACING)	28
SCOPE	30
Ohio's Bench	31
Maureen O'Connor	34
Jennifer Brunner	37
Sharon Kennedy	41
EMBIDICAL ANALYSIS	4.0

CASE SELECTION46
Criminal Justice Cases
Maureen O'Connor: State v Froman (2020)
Jennifer Brunner: Dubose v McGuffey (2022)51
Sharon Kennedy: State v Drain (2022)56
CRIMINAL JUSTICE DISCUSSION60
Low Salience Cases
Maureen O'Connor: Cordray v Midway Motor Sales (2009)62
Jennifer Brunner: Motorists Mutual Insurance v Ironics (2022)
Sharon Kennedy: State v Turner (2020)
LOW SALIENCE DISCUSSION74
Redistricting Case—League of Women Voters
Maureen O'Connor
Jennifer Brunner81
Sharon Kennedy83
REDISTRICTING DISCUSSION84
DISCUSSION85
FUTURE RESEARCH90
CONCLUSION91
WORKS CITED93
Cases and Legal Documents Cited

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Rachel Schwartz. She has been a part of this project since I started exploring the concept of judicial selection method as a sophomore. She was gracious enough to continue with the project even after her transfer to the University of Oklahoma, and countless drafts, email correspondences, and Zoom calls later, she saw this thesis through to its hundred-page conclusion. The completion of this thesis would not have been possible without her guidance and inspiration.

I sincerely appreciate the assistance of Dr. Nick Robinson, who accepted an active role as my second reader before we had even met in person. As my Otterbein home-base representative, he has helped me grow as a writer and consider new perspectives in this project.

I am deeply indebted to my family, who encouraged me to explore my interests and supported me from the very beginning. Thank you to my mother Emilie, whose expertise in the English language helped polish this thesis to near-perfection. Thank you to my father Michael, who has shared political insight as well as practical advice from when he wrote his own dissertation in graduate school. Thank you to my brother, Emerson, and grandfather Papa Dave who inspire, motivate, and support me every day.

I'd like to recognize the help and support I've received from Brian, Jessica, Bertha, and the entire staff of the Rodriguez Bell and DiFranco Law Office. Their dedication, humor, and commitment to the field of immigration law has reminded me the importance of grounding the theoretical and understanding its impacts on human beings.

I could not leave Otterbein without thanking my friends, roommates, and fellow students for their support in this process. I cannot begin to express my thanks to my dearest John, who has helped me through late-night library sessions and quarter-life crises always reminding me that I can and will do amazing things.

Finally, I want to thank Otterbein University and the Honors Program for making this opportunity possible. The insights and skills I have learned from this project cannot be understated, and I am so excited to share my work with the Otterbein community.

ABSTRACT

This thesis joins the conversation on judicial selection and impacts on judicial ideology. This is a multifaceted question that engages with the history of judicial selection, differences between states, growing polarization and partisanship, and an influx in campaign spending that can all influence Justices' behavior while on the bench. While other theorists have used more quantitative or statistical analytics, more research is still needed on the nuanced and qualitative questions surrounding the judiciary in the United States, especially on the state level. I look at three Ohio Supreme Court Justices—Maureen O'Connor, Jennifer Brunner, and Sharon Kennedy—and decisions they have penned in three categories of case—criminal justice, low salience, and redistricting—to understand what factors influence judicial behavior. This processtracing method showed that political affiliation and, to a lesser extent, positive public sentiment, influence judicial behavior, while amicus briefs and financial contributions were not directly impactful but are still relevant to the questions emerging in this area of legal scholarship. These findings are significant as they come at a point of major change in Ohio's judicial selection: a move from the semi-partisan Michigan-Ohio method elections to the fully partisan elections introduced in 2022 by Senate Bill 80 (SB80). This research also emphasizes the importance of State Supreme Courts, an area under-researched in the field and lacking public engagement. By exploring these questions, this thesis is relevant not only to Ohio's modern bench but also encourages research on federal courts and other state benches as well.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: O'Connor Election Information	36
Table 2: Brunner Election Information	40
Table 3: Kennedy Election Information	44
Table 4: Case Selection	46
Table 5: X ₁ Analysis	85
Table 6: X ₂ Analysis	86
Table 7: X ₃ Analysis	87
Table 8. X4 Analysis	88

INTRODUCTION

This project attempts to understand the Ohio Supreme Court, its history and culture, and factors that can influence judicial decision-making. I begin with an overview of relevant literature and research, pertaining to previous scholarly findings on the topic (Literature Review, Understanding Selection Method, Other Potential Impacts); a review of how Federalism has impacted states' selection methods and broad trends across the US (History of Judicial Selection); and how the courts operate and are perceived today (Modern Judicial Climate).

I then explain the project of this thesis, laying out possible factors that explain judicial decision-making (Hypotheses), my inductive and qualitative method (Methodology / Process Tracing) and the scope of my research. I explore the backgrounds and ideologies of three specific justices (Ohio's Bench) and select cases from three categories of law that pertain to my hypotheses (Case Selection).

Finally, I present my research for each and offer analysis at three levels: for each case, each legal category, and then a general discussion of how my findings relate to my hypotheses.

There is much to learn from Ohio's Supreme Court, and state-level courts offer an important and under-explored perspective into the importance of the judiciary and how politics have influenced them.

Project Description

i. Background and Significance

The question of judicial selection has been hotly debated for generations. This enduring debate delves into the deeper questions of the role of the judiciary, such as weighing the benefits of accountability versus independence, defining what "just" rulings look like, and how best to remove politics from the branch entirely. This thesis focuses primarily on the latter: partisan and public influence on the bench.

To understand the differences in selection methods and perceptions of the judiciary, a more thorough discussion of the history of the debate is necessary. Theorists, politicians, and legal scholars have established two main schools of thought surrounding the role of the judiciary. Those in favor of an independent bench look to insulate justices from cultural pressures and public opinion, whereas others believe a justice should be accountable to the public they serve, usually through elections. From these competing perspectives, different methods of judicial selections have arisen.

¹ Flango 40

To maintain a balance between state sovereignty and federal control, the United States

Constitution leaves the responsibility to choose judicial processes to states. There are currently
four main methods of judicial selection in the US:

- 1. Nonpartisan elections: judicial candidates are selected and voted on without a party affiliation on the ballot.
- 2. Partisan elections: judicial candidates are selected by political parties and run with an attached party tag on the ballot (Democrat or Republican).
- 3. Merit appointment: judicial candidates are selected by an independent council, then usually narrowed by a head of state and affirmed with a vote by the legislature.
- 4. Gubernatorial appointment: judicial candidates are selected by the state's governor.

Many scholars, politicians, and voters attribute the perceived fairness in rulings, or lack thereof, to the method through which that judge was selected. General consensus exists that, in theory, a partisan appointment or citizen-led election will require more accountability from a serving judge, whereas a merit appointment or life tenure helps ensure a greater level of judicial independence, but few studies have illustrated this claim.² Thus, it remains a more theoretical debate rather than one that has been empirically tested. While this debate has existed for centuries, increasing political polarization has permeated the judiciary, leading a new question to arise: are certain judicial selection methods more prone to partisan influence? How does the method of selection impact a judge's decision on the bench? If the method of selection is not the main factor influencing judicial decisions, what other factors exist?

ii. Objectives

_

² Geyh 90

The state of Ohio had a unique methodology involving semi-partisan elections. Judicial candidates were selected by political parties but run without a party label on the election ballot.³ This method was known as the Michigan-Ohio method, named for the two states that used it. However, the Ohio legislature has been debating this for some time, and in 2021, decided to no longer use the Michigan-Ohio method and opted for fully partisan elections with the passage of Senate Bill 80 (SB80). This marks an important step in the modern debate on the role of politics in the court which gives the topic of this thesis increased relevance. Additionally, scholars have recognized a remarkable change from the low-key "old style" judicial campaigns and the more costly, media-saturated "new style" campaigns of the modern era. By researching the impacts of this method this thesis will add to the scholarly debate on the subject and open the door for future scholars to compare their findings now that the legislature has voted to alter the selection method for justices. In addition, this thesis allows for an analysis of other potential impacts on judicial ideology and rulings since the hypotheses are not mutually exclusive.

Today marks a salient period in judicial history, providing an opportunity for this thesis to explore the current moment thoroughly. All three justices represented in my analysis were elected using the Ohio-Michigan method, but only two ran re-election campaigns that were entirely partisan. By comparing three Ohio Supreme Court justices with different political stances, the "old style" versus "new style" of judicial elections, cases of different content and salience, and the influence of politics and money on the modern court, I will explore the multifaceted nature of justice and the utmost relevance of the Ohio Supreme Court.

³ Nelson 496

LITERATURE REVIEW

Understanding Selection Method

Judicial selection is seen as one of the main influencing factors for judicial decisions.

States have fought to create the right balance of independence versus accountability, often leaving states with selection methods that differ from their neighbors'. Ultimately, most scholars agree that the goal of a judiciary is to enable impartial rulings for all, limit political and corrupt influence on decisions, and maintain a public perception of legitimacy.

Where scholars begin to deviate is not in these goals but rather the methods of achieving them. Scholarly research on the subject generally divides into four categories regarding how judicial selection methods can impact judicial behavior and decision making: 1) elections cause problems with legitimacy for the judiciary, 2) merit selection yields no better qualifications and creates an elitist and inaccessible bench, 3) recent polarization poses a threat to all methods of selection, and there is no "one size fits all" solution, and 4) methods of judicial selection do not influence judicial behavior at all.

Elections are a pillar of the democratic system, but their inherently polarized nature is cause for concern when it comes to judicial selection according to many scholars. Alexander Hamilton's outspoken concern about the majoritarian difficulty is reflected in many criticisms of judicial elections.⁴ For example, according to Pozen (2008, 279), "by making judges more responsive to majoritarian political influences, elections undermine (in a way that other selection methods do not) the interrelated values of judicial independence, judicial impartiality, the

-

⁴ Frost 22

appearance of impartiality, due process, separation of powers, minority rights protection, constitutionalism, and the rule of law." Furthermore, the rise in inter-party tensions have made increased the popularity of partisan elections, as opposed to other selection methods, in all forms of government. This higher partisan involvement, publicity, and funding has led to "nosier, nastier, and costlier" judicial elections, directly related to more intense party competition. Some even claim that the existence and modern preference towards judicial elections undermines the role of the judiciary altogether. The effects of a more accountable (and potentially less consistent) bench can also influence the rate of litigation: the uncertainty over courts' decisions is directly linked to an increase in litigation.⁸

While judicial elections are imperfect, many have taken issue with merit selection (also known as the Missouri Plan and the Non-Partisan Court Plan) as well. Scholars have long considered merit selection to be elitist, and there is little evidence that it produces better judges. Appointments often lack diversity and responsiveness to the public, and "political cronvism and senatorial backscratching" run rampant. There have also been criticisms of merit appointments allowing an excessive level of independence where judges no longer face accountability or repercussions for their actions. Non-renewable terms, or terms where the judge does not have ability to run for their position again, are found to produce judges with the most independent decisions ¹⁰ and judges that are rarely, if ever, disciplined for unfit judging, corruption, unprofessional behavior, and the like. 11 Additionally, the assumption that merit selection yields

⁵ Pozen, 279

⁶ Geyh 88

⁷ Pozen 280

⁸ Hanssen 229

⁹ Stevenson 1684

¹⁰ Epstein 34

¹¹ Reddick 7

judges with better qualifications is not inherently true: a study found "no significant differences... they possess comparable legal and judicial experience, and elected judges were no more likely than their merit-selected counterparts to have partisan political backgrounds." ¹²

Other studies indicate that recent politicization poses an indiscriminate threat for both elections and appointments. The increased political polarization in recent years has caused senators to block worthy merit appointments due to their being appointed by the opposing party, citing small improprieties or minute details from their past rather than genuine concerns about their character. There is also a noteworthy disconnect between political ideology and philosophy. While appointees are often members of the party that appoints them, their rulings will rarely follow a distinct political agenda. This leads politicians to seek out nominees with radical ideals that will be aligned with the party. These issues are not uniform throughout all states and districts, however. Certain regions have distinct needs and preferences that are more attuned to one mode of selection, so the effort of finding a "best" method may be overly broad. One study found that "the Missouri Plan is ideally suited for rural, progressive states, but less appropriate for populous, industrial states with little party competitiveness," implying that attempts at finding a concrete solution to the judicial selection question lack the nuance needed to solve the problem.

Finally, many scholars claim that the judicial selection argument is an exercise in theory, and that method of selection has little to no impact on judicial decision making. The very existence of a legal code means that judges must uphold the rule of law, not defer to political

¹²Geyh 90

¹³ Solum 662

¹⁴ Solum 670

¹⁵ Flango 41

partisanship or the influence of their electorate. To quote the Code of Judicial Conduct: judges are bound by "the duty not to be swayed by public clamor or fear of criticism; the duty to uphold and apply the law and perform all duties of judicial office impartially; and the duty to act at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the independence and impartiality of the judiciary."¹⁶Failure to uphold these tenets usually ends in investigation, condemnation, and removal.¹⁷ The judicial branch has rules in place to maintain its neutrality, and any judicial decision that undermines this (which tends to be exceedingly rare) is subject to intense scrutiny not present in other branches. Some argue that judges are "selected for their possession of the virtue of justice," and this exists in any method of selection from elections to appointments. ¹⁸

When left as abstract theories or political talking point, these theories do little to further our understanding of how a method of selection may genuinely impact a Supreme Court justice's opinions and conduct. To apply these theories to actual justices, scholars have adopted multiple approaches. These range from multilevel regression analysis via statistics, intense research into historical news editorials, and, of course, looking at judicial opinions themselves. Since it is difficult to isolate selection method as an influence on judicial behavior, it is prudent to look at other potential impacts.

Other Potential Impacts

Without academic consensus on the impact of judicial selection on the fairness of the bench, scholars have looked toward other explanations to explain judicial behavior. In this section, I review literature specifically targeting judicial elections as opposed to other selection

¹⁶ American Bar Association Code of Conduct

¹⁷ Gevh 95

¹⁸ Solum 689

methods (both partisan and non-partisan) to grasp potential effects on Ohio's Supreme Court, as well as review other potential factors that influence judicial decision making.

Many scholars look towards psychology to understand the justices on the bench. The "attitudinal model" assumes that "each member of the Court has preferences concerning the policy questions faced by the Court, and when the justices make decisions, they want the outcomes to approximate as nearly as possible those policy preferences." 19 Essentially, the justices' personal beliefs, preferences, and attitudes would be the most influential factor on their decision making. The concept of confirmation bias was also referenced, with scholars arguing that information (including amicus briefs, legal arguments, or public opinion) that aligns with a justice's previously held belief would induce that justice to cling to those beliefs tenaciously (i.e., an amicus brief that reiterates a justice's liberal/conservative viewpoint will encourage that justice to vote in a liberal/conservative direction). ²⁰ Likewise, confrontation with facts that oppose someone's ideas strengthens that person's beliefs, leading to a remarkably polarizing effect when applied to the judiciary. ²¹ This view of justices as "biased processors" of the information presented to them can be theoretically linked to more partisan decisions as political parties will either nominate or encourage voters to select a justice whose philosophy aligns with the views of the party.

Another camp of scholars suggests there is a more concrete method of influencing justices: money. The theory is that monetary interests, such as political parties, businesses, attorneys, and other interest groups, funnel money into judicial campaigns with the hope that their money will influence the decisions of the justice if elected to the bench. This can often be a

¹⁹ Segal, Cover 558

²⁰ Becker Kane 255

²¹ Becker Kane 255

difficult causal relationship to track since the opposing idea—that interest groups will give money to a candidate because they already agree with their opinions and likely future decisions—can result in the same outcomes. While it is difficult to discern whether "decisions follow dollars or dollars follow decisions,"22 many scholars are able to illustrate a clear correlation between the two, although not necessarily causation. This correlation applies to attorneys who donate to judicial campaigns²³ as well as the tort reform battles in Ohio²⁴ but not convincingly to the judicial system as a whole. Essentially, monetary interests choose to support a judicial campaign for a few potential reasons: to show support for a candidate they agree with or to encourage a candidate to make decisions attuned with the interests' goals with the potential for future support and donations. According to Kowel (2016, 16), "In a growing number of states, judicial races are evidencing an 'arms race mentality' of rising expenditures, heightened competition, and growing interest group activity. Judicial selection is thus becoming a political process that places pressure on lawyers, business organizations, and interest groups to get involved in the competition to elect judges who will be favorable to their positions."²⁵ An extension of this theory includes third-party amicus briefs: in contentious elections or when funding is at stake, third parties will directly engage with cases by filing amicus briefs in support of their preferred outcome. ²⁶

A school of thought that is unique to elections is that public opinion can be a leading source of judicial influence. This theory relies on the idea that, as stated above, elected judges must be more accountable to the public since they rely on their votes to maintain their role on the

²² Waltenberg 255

²³ Cann 292

²⁴ Waltenberg 256

²⁵ Kowel 16

²⁶ Becker Kane 251

bench. Scholars have found that this relationship is conditional, however, on several other factors: 1) the judge must be interested in reelection, 2) the case must be visible to the public, generally via media, 3) the judge must have an awareness of the public's sentiment, and 4) the issue in the case must be salient.²⁷ Underlying all of these is the idea that the judge must be in a state that relies on contested elections since other selection methods show no relationship between public opinion and judicial decisions.²⁸

The issue of salience was referenced frequently and essentially included any area of law that consistently garnered strong opinions from the public. These mainly included the death penalty, criminal justice more generally, and "family values" cases regarding homosexuality or abortion.²⁹ It was also noted that nonpartisan justices were more impacted by public opinion in general, and partisan-elected justices were more impacted by *changes* in public opinion.³⁰ Public opinion measures, when surveys are not readily available, often rely on the imperfect yet powerful variable of media. When attack ads are present, a judge is more likely to consider the public's opinion when drafting their own opinion on a similar issue.³¹ While media presence can be a useful tool, it is also important to recognize that media overlaps with other theories, such as campaign contributions, partisan involvement, or special interest groups. Media can help measure public opinion, but it is also critical to understand who is paying for the ads and why.

²⁷ Cann, Wilhelm 564

²⁸ Canes-Wrone low salience, 674

²⁹ Canes-Wrone Death Penalty

³⁰ Canes-Wrone Death Penalty 26

³¹ Canes-Wrone low salience

History of Judicial Selection

A fair judiciary is critical to the functioning of a democracy. Therefore, the question of how best to build a "fair" judicial bench in America has existed since the foundation of the country. The Founding Fathers left this responsibility to the states enabling them to decide for their own citizens how their benches will be formed. Because the Constitution gives states the authority to devise their own judicial selection methods and procedures, we see a large variation across states. While the federal government rarely involves itself in state judiciaries, oftentimes trends can be seen across multiple states. As one scholar describes, these trends can be broken into five sections: the premodern unseparated judiciary, judicial aristocracy, judicial democracy, judicial meritocracy, and judicial plutocracy.³²

Early American courts were plagued with issues of control by the King of England, much to the chagrin of colonists. All judges were appointed and could be removed by the Crown, as Thomas Jefferson remarked, "he has made Judges dependent on his Will alone, for the tenure of their offices, and the amount and payment of their salaries." The reliance on a sole authority to control the judiciaries was a chief concern among the Founding Fathers. After the Revolutionary War, politicians set up a court to seek accountability from the public rather than a single, monarchical individual. The structure of this selection was left to Congress, as was the number of justices required to serve on the Supreme Court. Even more discretion was left to the states, often showing trends in which selection methods were deemed most desirable at various points in history.

³² Shugerman 9

³³ Jefferson

The 19th century showed intense partisanship across all political spheres, and judicial selection was no exception. To address (but often reinforce) the issue of political factionalism, many states implemented a popular election system. This was thought to counteract high-brow political cronyism and interest groups by returning electoral power to the people. In fact, thirty-five states selected their judges via partisan elections by 1909.³⁴ Other states even opted for non-partisan elections, where judges would run without a political affiliation on the ballot. Political scientist Matthew Streb (Shugerman 2012, 28) explains: "this Progressive reform was designed to cripple the powerful city machines' control over the nomination process and remove divisive national partisan interests from state and local elections... Nonpartisan judicial elections were perceived as a way to clean up corruption and cronyism in the judicial selection process while still keeping judges accountable to the people." Nonpartisan elections served to maintain judicial accountability while lessening the effects of party polarization.

The year 1913 marked the first use of a truly non-partisan judicial selection method and the foundation for modern merit selection. To steer judicial selection away from electoral politics, the Missouri Plan proposed an "independent commission recruits and vets candidates based on qualifications, not party affiliation or connection." Arising from concerns of an uninformed public and rampant factionalism, merit selection seemed like the logical next step in judicial selection methods. The Missouri Plan's popularity boomed between 1950 and 1980, an era dubbed "the merit revolution" by some scholars. However, merit selection did not win universal support and corruption still played a role. According to Kowal (2016), "Business

³⁴ Kowal 6

³⁵ Shugerman 28

³⁶ Kowal 6

³⁷ Goldschmidt 2

³⁸ Shugerman 219

interests, working with state bar associations, played a significant role in the spread of merit selection. Opposition came mostly from plaintiffs' lawyers, organized labor, and big city political machines." Despite demographic and economic similarities to Ohio, Missouri's smaller labor unions (usually the most vocal opponents to merit selection plans) enabled the system to be put into effect. 40

Often seeing results from involvement in merit selections, business interests further involved themselves in judicial selections into the 1980s. The so-called era of "friendly courts" started with businesses realizing it was cheaper and quieter to fund judicial campaigns rather than lobby politicians. The Republican Party used a platform to limit the "litigation crisis"—a fear that American citizens would sue growing corporations at higher rates knowing they may receive greater settlements, such as a settlement of \$2.86 million for a woman burned by a hot cup at McDonald's—to push tort reform, often starting with the courts. ⁴¹ These reform efforts mark the point where political parties—not just interest groups—sought to use judicial selection as a political tool. Merit selection—often considered the least politicized of the selection methods—began to fall out of favor as political parties became more involved. In fact, after 1994 no new merit selection expansion proposals passed. ⁴² States returned to election-style selections in full force, while merit selection or executive appointment remained popular in federal courts. Seeing an opportunity to have their voices heard, the public "began to look to state courts as a new arena in which to pursue their goals."

³⁹ Kowal 7

⁴⁰ Shugerman 198

⁴¹ Kowal 7

⁴² Fischer 2019

⁴³ Kowal 8

In the face of a seemingly unsympathetic Supreme Court of the United States (SCOTUS), public interest returned to state supreme courts during the late 1990s and early 2000s. Many interest groups, businesses, and individuals realized that more change could be enacted on the state level than at the federal level⁴⁴ and civic engagement culminated in rapid change for state courts and previously unmatched levels of political partisanship, attention from interest groups, and public pressure on the bench.

Modern Judicial Climate

The 2000 election is considered by scholars to be a "Watershed Year" for judicial elections, regarding spending, publicity, and public involvement. In a now-famous article, law professor Roy A. Schotland of Georgetown Law Center described earlier judicial elections as being "sleepy, low-key affairs," while modern judicial affairs are "nastier, nosier, [and] costlier." Indeed, in the years between 2000 and 2009, state supreme court candidates raised a total of \$206.9 million, compared to \$83.3 million raised between 1990 to 1999. In 2000, the average amount of money raised for a supreme court campaign was over \$640,000. In a noteworthy study, scholars recognized that "million-dollar races" (i.e., campaigns that raise over a million dollars) were all either partisan or nonpartisan elections; and that merit-plan or quasi-merit-plan retention elections (Missouri-plan merit appointments) never rose to this level of spending.

⁴⁴ Sutton

⁴⁵ Pozen 300

⁴⁶ Shephed and Kang 2016

⁴⁷ Goldberg 8

⁴⁸ Shugerman 253

Political parties, businesses, interest groups, and attorneys began donating to campaigns in record numbers.

A landmark ruling in 2002 raised other concerns about judicial independence and insulation from politics. In *Republican Party of Minnesota v White*, SCOTUS ruled in a 5-4 decision that states cannot prohibit a candidate for judicial office from "announcing his or her views on disputed legal or political issues." While this was limited by the 2008 decision in *Caperton v Massey*, the latter only requires recusal when there is substantial money involved, not simply political affiliation or partisan conflict of interest. Thus, the most recent era of Supreme Court partisanship was cemented in stare decisis (the legal standard that future courts will adhere to this precedent and follow this logic).

Less than a decade later, the SCOTUS ruling in the landmark *Citizens United v FEC* in 2010 led to a bona fide funding explosion. The main consequence of the case is the ruling that "limiting independent expenditures on political campaigns by groups such as corporations, labor unions, or other collective entities violates the First Amendment because limitations constitute a prior restraint on speech." *Citizens United* allows for unlimited independent spending in elections. As a result, special interest groups have been inclined to fund parallel campaigns and to contribute directly to candidates they find to be friendly towards their goals.

This new era in judicial elections is a remarkable one: spending, partisan involvement, and judicial publicity are high, while constituents' faith in the independence of the branch is low. This lack of separation between branches blurs the lines of an independent judiciary, and it is critical to continue researching judicial decisions, ideology, and public perceptions at both the

⁴⁹ Zacchari 138

⁵⁰ Caperton v Massey 556 U.S. 868

⁵¹ Justia Law Citizens United

federal and state level. As such, the public perception of federal courts frequently informs the public's opinion of their state courts as well. As Justice O'Connor explained: "There is no distinction in the mind of the public between the United States Supreme Court and the state courts... our state courts, then, have the same decline [in trust] as federal courts. Not as precipitously, but on the downward slope. And that is very troubling." Troubling, indeed. As the public trust in SCOTUS fades, it is more important than ever to understand the function and perception of state courts as well.

Some scholars, such as Segal and Cover, look at corpus linguistics, news articles, and editorials to evaluate judicial ideologies. Albeit imperfect, since they measure perceived over actual ideology and exclusively measure ideologies from before a nomination to the bench, this approach offers a unique way to analyze court decisions beyond the opinions themselves. This content-analytic approach both measures and supports the attitudinal model mentioned in the "Other Factors" section. ⁵³ This approach also helps to explain benchmarks to define "liberal," "moderate," and "conservative" based on language used in the opinions as well as the proscribed punishments and leanings of the decisions themselves. ⁵⁴ In a similar vein, other scholars have established clearer measurements for demarcating "partisanship" within judicial decisions. ⁵⁵

Still others use empirical or statistical methods to rank judicial decisions or opinions numerically on a scale. This helps eliminate subjective coding that may be unconsciously influenced by party affiliation bias.⁵⁶ There are two extensive and frequently referenced statistical measurements in the field: one proposed by Tonja Jacobi (further refined by Andrew

⁵² Fisher 2022, 11:27

⁵³ Segal, Cover 557

⁵⁴ Segal, Cover 559

⁵⁵ Bonica, Sen 99

⁵⁶ Bonica, Sen 102

Sag) and the other by Andrew Martin and Kevin Quinn (2002). Martin and Quinn developed what they call a "dynamic response model" using item response theory. They measure and then average judicial decisions of individual justices on the US Supreme Court.⁵⁷ However, their measures do not account for inter-year comparisons; such comparative usage would require the assumption that every year's docket is comparable, an assumption many scholars are unwilling to make.⁵⁸ The Jacobi Measures, however, fill in these blanks. Using a mix of attitudinal, collegial, and judicial-utility measures, Jacobi seeks to estimate judicial decisions regarding any case in any year. While this is consistent across different dockets,⁵⁹ the Jacobi Measures fail to explore *why* justices decide the way they do.

Studies look to complex statistical analysis to examine the impartiality of judicial decisions and potential impacts of partisan influence or public opinion. While quantitative approaches can offer an interesting perspective on broader correlations across time and circumstances, I am looking instead to deeply understand the current moment and recent past—understanding Ohio court politics at the emergence of a more political judicial climate—which requires a qualitative route.

HYPOTHESES

In this section, I will be laying out a series of hypotheses informed by the literature above. Various potential factors have been proposed and tested by other scholars (as seen in the

⁵⁷ Martin, Quinn

⁵⁸ Segal

⁵⁹ Sag, Jacobi 16

⁶⁰ Canes-Wrone 23

'Literature Review' section), and I use these to build hypotheses relevant to the modern Ohio bench. I have sketched out causal pathways between X variables (the potential influencing factor) and Y variables (their potential impact on judicial decision-making) below.

X_1 : Public opinion hypotheses

 X_1A : If public opinion is high, a justice will not deviate from their ideology.

 $\mathbf{X_{1}B}$: If public opinion is low, a justice will soften their language or deviate from their ideology and advocate more "popular" positions.

 X_1C : If a justice has unpopular opinions, the public will offer less financial support and vote them off the bench.

 $\mathbf{X_1D}$: If a justice has popular opinions, the public will offer more financial support and vote to keep them on the bench.

Many scholars argue that public opinion and media attention can help explain judicial behavior, including Canes-Wrone in her articles "Judicial Selection and Death Penalty Cases" and "Judicial Elections, Public Opinion, and Decisions on Lower-Salience Issues" as well as Cann and Wilhelm's "Case Visibility and the Electoral Connection in State Supreme Courts."

Based on this research, when I see high levels of public approval regarding a specific justice or a decision they have made—characterized by positive media coverage, an increase in positive comments from individuals on social media, and public opinion polls—I can expect a justice to continue ruling the way she has been i.e., we will not see a significant deviation from

her established ideology in favor of "popular" outcomes. I am specifically looking at criminal justice cases for this hypothesis. Scholars have found that the public is more aware (and opinionated) on cases involving crime and usually seek a justice with a strong hand who is not "soft on crime." A justice that diverges from public opinion on an issue—particularly decisions that are "soft" on the offender—is likely to face public backlash that could then either encourage them to be more aligned with public expectations on future decisions or be less popular in the polls at an upcoming election.

I expect to see a greater change in judicial behavior when a justice is considered *unpopular* since research suggests that judges are more sensitive to change in public opinion rather than public opinion itself. When there are lower levels of public approval, especially when sentiment was formerly neutral or high, I expect to see greater leniency in opinions that may be unpopular, specifically criminal justice cases (softer wording when writing for the majority, fewer concurrences, essentially avoiding the public eye), OR rulings that deviate from previous, unpopular positions. To avoid being soft on crime, previously liberal justices might take a stronger stance towards punishment. Additionally, I only expect to see this behavior on issues with a higher public profile, specifically criminal justice cases, since these cases are the most followed by the public and more widely reported by the media. ⁶²

X₂: Friends of the court hypotheses

⁶¹ Cann Wilhelm

⁶² Roberts, 101

 X_2A : If there are no amicus briefs filed, the justice will pen an opinion aligning with their usual rhetoric, language, and ideology.

X₂B: If amicus briefs for only one side are filed, the majority opinion will echo some of the language and citations used in the brief.

X₂C: If amicus briefs for both sides are filed, the majority will echo the language of one interest group while the dissent references the other.

Based on Segal and Cover's paper "Ideological Values and the Votes of U.S. Supreme Court Justices," and Becker-Kane's research from "Lobbying Justice(s)? Exploring the Nature of Amici Influence in State Supreme Court Decision Making," I sketch ways that amicus briefs can impact judicial decision-making.

In cases with multiple amicus curiae briefs filed, this hypothesis would be supported if a judicial decision rules in favor of the side with more amicus briefs, especially if language or arguments are borrowed from these briefs to be used in the opinion itself. This will be notable if a justice mentions specific repercussions from their decision (ex: "this decision will help z group" if group z was also mentioned in an amicus brief, or if a justice refers to policy information, since typically justices are insulated from policy since it is not their role to change it. If there are no amicus briefs filed, I do not expect a justice to deviate from their typical ruling or language.

X₃: "Show me the money" hypotheses

X₃A: If a justice does not receive financial support from an interest group, they will maintain their typical ideological stance.

X₃B: If a justice receives financial support from an interest group, they will be "friendlier" to that group and side with them in their penned opinions.

According to scholars such as Waltenberg, Cann, Kowel, and Becker-Kane, money can have an impact on judicial decision-making. In this hypothesis, I am looking toward non-partisan interest group involvement to better differentiate between my fourth hypothesis that addresses party affiliation more deeply. These groups include private businesses, special interest groups, or organizations. If these groups offer endorsements, funding, and advertisements for a candidate, I expect to see either greater leniency or higher levels of support for the topic the group represents. For example, if a donation comes from a group that represents the falsely accused, the justice may be more lenient on a contentious criminal trial. Likewise, a business's donation may elicit "pro-business" opinions and a friendlier support for the sector.

Unfortunately, my analysis does not allow me to establish any causal connection between campaign donations and judicial decision making; however, examining the presence of a correlation between these two variables is still an important first step in understanding the links between money and judicial decisions. It is not in the scope of this study to decipher whether the money was given to the candidate because they already showed favorable views towards the group's interest or whether the group intended to encourage future friendliness.

X₄: Party pressure hypotheses

X₄**A**: If there is more political involvement – characterized by a higher election turnout – the Justice will be more aligned with the ideals of their nominating party.

X₄B: If there is more political involvement – characterized by a closer race (i.e., the election results will be in-line with other party-based elected offices) – the Justice will be more aligned with the ideals of their nominating party.

X₄C: If a justice has political backing, their opinions will be in-line with party goals.

 X_4D : If a justice deviates from party goals, they will lose support from the party.

Based on scholarship from Pozen, Geyh, Solum, and others, judicial elections are becoming polarized and politicized. I anticipate that upcoming elections in the Ohio Judiciary will indeed be "nastier, nosier, and costlier" due to party involvement. For this hypothesis to be true, I expect to see closer elections post the passing of Senate Bill 80 (SB80) (due to increased partisan involvement that encourages voters to cast their ballot along party lines), higher levels of endorsement, advertising, funding for justices from political parties or adjacent lobbying groups, and increased voter turnout. Historically, judicial elections in Ohio tend to have low turnout due to lack of knowledge from the public. As Maureen O'Connor explained, "about 70% of Ohioans have said loud and clear that they don't want to stop voting for the judiciary. Yet, when it comes to elections, there is inevitably a drop-off when it comes to voting for the judiciary." As an example, in 2012 only 40% of Ohioans voted for judges. The addition of the

-

⁶³ O'Connor State of the Judiciary Address, 32:22

party affiliation (R or D next to the judge's name on the ballot) is thought to increase voter turnout since citizens are increasingly likely to vote based on political parties.⁶⁴

I will be specifically looking at language used within redistricting cases since they are the most politicized (directly dealing with political parties) and will likely be scrutinized by the endorsing party. If I see a Justice using language that mirrors political buzzwords or concerns raised by their party's members in the legislative or executive branches, this is an indicator of party alignment. Since the outcome of *League* directly influences Ohio's political parties for years to come, those parties will likely want to support Justices that affirm their beliefs and criticize those who do not. This can cause problems since all but one of the League of Women *Voters*—the set of redistricting cases—opinions were written Per Curiam; the opinions are not attributed to a single author but released on behalf of the entire bench. The original case was penned by Democratic Justice Melody Stewart. I am focusing on individual dissents and press releases drafted by justices regarding *League*. Whereas judicial elections are usually considered "sleepy affairs," party affiliation is expected to encourage voters to cast a ballot in the judicial race who previously would not. However, increased voter turnout can also be attributed to changes in public opinion (hypothesis 1) so voter turnout will be considered a secondary piece of evidence.

METHODOLOGY (PROCESS TRACING)

⁶⁴ Atske for PEW Research 2021

The nuances surrounding judicial ideology and opinions pose a challenge related to measurement and comparison. After researching other ways scholars have measured judicial ideology, I recognized that both statistical analysis and qualitative analysis have benefits and drawbacks. For the questions I seek to answer, qualitative analysis (and specifically process tracing) enables a nuanced approach that can take into account the multifaceted nature of the Ohio Supreme Court.

I formed my analysis based on existing theories in the field of judicial research. But this qualitative approach also allows me to remain open to inductive findings that can then inform new theories on the topic. Since judicial selection is such a complicated topic, there are many nuances that will come to light during my research that will be of value to academic and political communities. Based on my research, I have created a series of hypotheses that will continue to be informed by inductive discoveries throughout the process. This methodology is becoming increasingly popular in the political science field and is especially well suited for a multifaceted question such as this.⁶⁵

As I collected my data, I organized it in a methodology known as "process tracing" to look for patterns. Process tracing involves sketching out a potential causal pathway and looking for evidence of the observable implications. In this thesis, I established my hypotheses based on scholarly research to understand how different variables can impact judicial decision-making and ideology. Originating from cognitive psychology, the process-tracing method is well-suited for understanding individual decision making as well as structural explanations.⁶⁶

⁶⁵ Yom

⁶⁶ Bennet 5

SCOPE

This thesis does not intend to answer whether an independent or accountable judiciary is "best", nor does it argue that one judicial ideology—liberal or conservative leaning—is superior to the other. Instead, I look to how these ideologies may be formed and influenced.

Understanding these nuances can help the public understand how to build the fairest bench in the eyes of the people it serves.

The debate over judicial selection has implications for a key pillar of democracy, and the nuances of creating the "fairest" judiciary mean that it is unclear if there will ever be a perfect solution. Nonetheless, research in the field is paramount to creating a justice system that upholds American values and is trusted by the public. The methods for selecting a bench are likely to continue changing over time and increased research will help bring to light which method(s) best serve the public or whether they impact judicial rulings at all.

While I do account for the history of judicial selection methods in Ohio and beyond, this thesis focuses on the modern bench. This perspective offers multiple benefits: firstly, it encompasses justices selected in the "old-style" elections that were seen as less partisan and less costly (O'Connor, as an example) as well as their "new-style" contemporaries (Brunner and Kennedy as examples) who seek political party nominations in vastly more heated and publicized elections. This allows me to look at court decisions being released in the same political climate and era (meaning I do not have to control for extensive changes in public opinion, partisan support, or other confounding variables) while still benefitting from the recent changes in the "new-style" campaigns. Secondly, selection of cases between three types of

cases—redistricting, criminal justice, and low salience—allows me to look at the impact of variables in cases with varying levels of public interest, politicization, and media coverage.

Additionally, information from elections since 2000 is more accessible. Prior to 2000, Supreme Court opinions, campaign funding information, and public advertisements are harder to find. Finally, the modern judiciary in Ohio offers a unique perspective on the questions posed above. It is a time of remarkable change both in the method of judicial selection and partisan (and public) interest in the bench.

Almost all cases researched for this thesis were decided within the past decade, apart from Cordray v Midway Motor Sales in 2009. Since O'Connor's promotion to chief justice in 2010, she has penned fewer opinions and I had fewer relevant cases from which to choose; since Cordray is a low-salience case, the age should not be of significant bearing on results.

Ohio's Bench

In 1802, the first Ohio Constitution proscribed that all justices "shall be appointed by a joint ballot of both Houses of the General Assembly, and shall hold their offices for the term of seven years," (rather than the traditional lifetime appointment) "if so long they behave well." Supreme Court justices were not to be paid more than one thousand dollars annually and ultimately tasked the bench that they should "by virtue of their offices, be conservators of the peace throughout the State." This original court, comprised of three justices—Return Miegs Jr., William Sprigg, and Samuel Huntington—were also required to ride horseback across Ohio, a

⁶⁷ O.H. Const. 1802

⁶⁸ O.H. Const. 1802

practice known as "riding the circuit."⁶⁹ However, early justices in the state faced issues of partisanship and legislative interference. For example, during a hotly contested court battle over jurisdiction and fair jury concerns, Federalist justices were almost impeached by Republican legislators who failed to convict the justices of "willfully, wickedly, and maliciously" attempting "to introduce anarchy and confusion in the government of the state of Ohio" by only a single vote. This was an early battle to keep political partisanship out of the courts, but it was far from the last.

Ohio was not immune from the partisanship that accompanied the 19th century. The state was among thirty-five others to use partisan selection that later opted to reform the system further by introducing nonpartisan elections for its justices in 1912. Unlike other states at the time, the justices would not have a party affiliation listed on the ballot. Ohio never went so far as to adopt the Missouri plan or merit selection. In 1938 and again in 1987, Ohio legislators proposed a turn away from nonpartisan elections in favor of merit selection. In both proposals, the amendment was voted down, and Ohio never used the Missouri Plan. With elections still dominating the judicial system, the state saw a significant increase in campaign contributions post-2000 from businesses as well as political parties. Even Ohio's Chief Justice at the time, Thomas J. Moyer, recognized that this funding explosion diminished public faith in the courts. Perhaps in reaction to public concern over court politization, the Ohio Supreme Court was moved to the Ohio Judicial Center on February 17, 2004. The move marked "the first time ever in Ohio's 200-year history that the judiciary is now housed separately from the other two branches, emphasizing its unique and independent role in state government." Chief Justice

⁶⁹ Ohio Supreme Court History, Timeline

⁷⁰ Tarr 41

⁷¹ Ohio Supreme Court History, Timeline

Maureen O'Connor herself proposed changes to the method of judicial selection in 2014, suggesting a non-partisan, open primary and the two most popular candidates would be on the ballot.⁷² This idea gained no traction and was not considered by legislators.

However, political parties started a movement at the state level to opt for entirely partisan judicial selection, with the Ohio-Michigan Method now being referred to as the Michigan Method after Ohio's change in judicial elections. Introduced by the Senate in February 2021 as part of the 134th Ohio General Assembly, state senators voted on Senate Bill 80: a move from a non-partisan ballot to one that includes party affiliations for certain offices, including Supreme Court justices. The bill stated "[there] shall be printed, in less prominent type face than that in which the candidate's name is printed, the name of the political party by which the candidate was nominated or certified." The bill passed 24/9 in the Senate and 52/37 in the House of Representatives, going into effect in September 2021. The votes were almost entirely along party lines, with Republicans in favor of the bill and Democrats opposed.

As of the writing of this thesis in 2023, Ohio's Supreme Court consists of seven justices: Jennifer Brunner, Melody J. Stewart, Michael P. Donnelly, R. Patrick DeWine, Patrick F. Fischer, Sharon L. Kennedy, and Maureen O'Connor. In this thesis, I will be looking at the biographies and opinions of three specific justices on the court: the retiring chief justice O'Connor and the two justices campaigning to be the next chief justice, Kennedy and Brunner. Their elections offer a unique perspective into how the court has changed in recent years. O'Connor represents "old-style" elections and an era where the court was insulated, whereas Kennedy and Brunner are affiliated with their political parties during their campaign. In this

⁷² Fisher 2022, 8:30

⁷³ Gavarone, SB80 2022

section, I will provide a brief overview of each justices' history prior to their work on Ohio's Supreme Court, their judicial ideologies (in their own words, as much as possible), significant endorsements and funding information, and a table of election results and funding throughout their careers on the bench to help contextualize.

Maureen O'Connor

O'Connor served as the tenth chief justice for the Ohio Supreme Court and the first woman to hold the position. She was a proponent of modernizing the courts and standardizing felony sentencing. She previously served as a prosecuting attorney for Summit County, Ohio's first liaison to the Department of Homeland Security post 9/11, and co-chaired the National Task Force on Fines, Fees, and Bail Practices in 2016.⁷⁴ As of the writing of this thesis, O'Connor was the only chief justice to age out of the role—all others have either lost an election or passed away while in office. She jokingly referenced that she had "reach[ed] the age of Constitutional senility."⁷⁵ Of the three justices researched, O'Connor intentionally stays out of the public eye. She has no social media, rarely speaks to reporters, and most of her writings are either through court opinions, live-broadcast oral arguments, or, recently, political addresses on topics such as the state of the judiciary.

Chief Justice O'Connor was nominated by the Republican Party in the 2002 primary, but per the now-defunct Ohio-Michigan method of judicial selection, she ran as an Independent on the ballot for the primary election. Since then, she has been vocal about the importance of interparty compromise and dangers of partisanship to the judiciary. She was frequently the deciding vote on politically divisive issues since the court's makeup until January 2023 was 5/4

⁷⁴ Ohio Supreme Court biography

⁷⁵ Fisher 2022, 3:37

in favor of the Republican Party. Her ideology is less definable along partisan lines, but she cites textualism and "plain reading" in many of her opinions. She states that "judges should limit themselves to interpreting the law and the Constitution, and should leave policy debates where they belong—in the legislature."⁷⁶

In her final State of the Judiciary address, O'Connor focused on bipartisanship, public engagement in the court, and the duties that public service requires. In her public comments, O'Connor focuses on the theory behind her role in the judiciary rather than specific policies or issues. She explains: "You don't take your politics, you don't take your religion, you don't take a lot of things into consideration...they don't color how you do your job and if they do...you don't deserve to wear the robe."⁷⁷ She also consistently advocates for an independent, non-political or partisan bench, saying "You need only to look at my record to understand that I support the independence of the judiciary,"⁷⁸ and that "When they say, 'she broke from her party,' they don't understand that there was never an allegiance to a party to begin with on the court."⁷⁹ Her role as a public servant is one where she is detached from the growing partisanship and polarization seen in other brancher: "When you are charged as a public servant to do your job, do your job and leave politics out of it...You work for the good of the people, all of the people, and not political parties. Each of us is called to do that."80 Ultimately, she wants the judiciary to work cooperatively with one another and independently as their own body, unchanged by partisan pressure. She said: "I believe in the work of compromise. There don't always have to be losers for there to be winners."81

⁷⁶ "O'Connor v Black: How We Chose," 2002

⁷⁷ Tebben 2022

⁷⁸ O'Connor 2022, 22:25

⁷⁹ Fisher 2022, 6:51

⁸⁰ O'Connor 2022, 39:05

⁸¹ O'Connor 2022, 5:38

In addition to her proposal to alter Ohio's judicial selection method, she has been outspoken about her belief in an independent judiciary saying: "I think it's unfortunate that we have the system that we have, that is even more politicized because the Supreme Court and the appellate courts now have a designation of either an 'R' or a 'D' and that's what the voter is looking at on their ballot. I think that sends the wrong message."

O'Connor Election Information⁸³

Table 1

Election	Number of	% of	Campaign	Percent of	Incumbent?
Year	Votes	Registered	Funding*84	Votes Won	
		Voters			
2016	3,562,413	45.31%	\$10,200	100% (unopposed)	Y
2010	2,232,724	27.78%	\$889,165.93	67.6%	N-Running for Chief Justice
2008	2,970,588	35.84%	\$863,278	67.1%	Y
2002	1,709,673	24.03%	\$1,736,852	58.3%	N

^{*}I calculated funding for all justices from January 1st until November 10th of the election year.

⁸² Fisher 2022, 14:04

⁸³ Ohio Secretary Of State, Election Results

⁸⁴ Searchable Campaign Finance Data

In 2009 (her last election facing opposition), O'Connor was unanimously endorsed by the Ohio Republican Party Central Committee⁸⁵ as well as the Ohio Fraternal Order of Police for her "unmatched administrative experience." 86 She was also endorsed by the Buckeye Firearms Association in both 2002 and 2008. 87 The National Federation of Independent Business (NFIB) Ohio, The Ohio Society of CPAs, and the *Columbus Dispatch* newspaper all offered support for O'Connor as well.⁸⁸, To note, O'Connor's election website was taken down since she is no longer running to remain on the bench. Frequently, campaign websites are the best sources of endorsements and testimonials, so I had to rely instead on self-published endorsements that remain online. She received glowing praise from potential successor Jennifer Brunner who said, "Ohio's judicial branch has been in highly capable hands for nearly 12 years with my friend and colleague, Chief Justice Maureen O'Connor. I plan to respect and treat her impressive accomplishments as a springboard to further advancing new and current initiatives to develop courts that serve all Ohioans with fairness, equality and respect." But I did not find that Kennedy publicly referenced O'Connor during her campaign. 89 Even under the Ohio-Michigan Method of judicial selection, the vast majority of campaign contributors were registered Republicans.

Jennifer Brunner

Justice Jennifer Brunner was elected to the Ohio Supreme Court in 2020 and ran for chief justice in 2022. She was also a candidate for the US Senate in 2010 and worked as Ohio's first

⁸⁵ Columbus Dispatch Staff Writer, 2009

⁸⁶ McDonald, 2010

^{87 &}quot;O'Connor v Black: How We Chose," 2002

⁸⁸ Geiger 2016, CPA Staff Writer, 2020, Columbus Dispatch Staff Writer, 2010

⁸⁹ Brunner 2021

female Secretary of State from 2007 until 2011. She was elected to state appeals court in the 10th circuit from 2014 to 2020. After graduating from Miami University law school, she founded her own law firm in 1988 with a focus on election, campaign finance, and international law.

Brunner focused much more on the tangible issues faced by Ohio's Supreme Court and how law affects citizens in their daily living. She advocated for a much more accessible and responsive bench, frequently remarking that "the courts belong to the people," and that "[her] campaign is based on my vision for a justice system in Ohio that operates with accountability, openness and fairness to all and that promotes access to justice--a judicial campaign for and about people."

Like O'Connor, she also emphasized cooperation; she wanted to "help Ohioans have access to their courts while working with judges throughout Ohio as responsive public servants promoting fairness, equality and respect for all persons...I believe that when one person is helped, many benefit, and I am passionate about the ways our courts can help people when we work together with a common vision."

She commented on specific policies she advocated for, supported, and accomplished while working on the bench, including bail reform, technological advancements that "promote greater access to justice", pandemic-specific changes including remote access to court, reliance on sentencing data to "identify systemic racism in the criminal justice" throughout the state, ⁹¹ and to ease access to for transgender individuals "to support a quality of life many of us take for granted."⁹²

⁹⁰ Brunner 2021

⁹¹ Brunner 2021

⁹² Brunner 2021

As exemplified by her more policy-aware and consequentialist approach, Brunner is more of a "living constitutionalist." This aligns her with former United States Supreme Court Justices like Stephen Breyer and David Souter. She explained: "The Ohio Constitution is amended a lot more frequently by votes of Ohio voters, but it's a living document in that it still works for us today, but it's not something that should change at a whim. There are times when courts need to overrule a previous decision, but politics has no place in our courts, that shakes the confidence of people in our rule of law." When asked about the significance of party makeup on the court, Brunner responded: "You take an oath to the law and the Constitution. It's really not a partisan issue." She summarized her philosophy as follows: "We work to make the law work for everyone and we do it to the best of our understanding and our ability," she said. "If judges take a public service attitude, then every morning they have to look at themselves in the mirror and say, 'Did I do right by people today? Did I do right by the law? Did I do right by my promises?' And they don't have to try to pigeonhole themselves into I'm this or I'm that."

^{...}

⁹³ Trau 2022

⁹⁴ Tobias 2019

⁹⁵ Trau 2022

Brunner Election Information⁹⁶

Table 2

Election	Number of	% of	Campaign	Percent of	Incumbent?
Year	Votes	Registered	Funding ⁹⁷	Votes Won	
		Voters			
2022	1,807,133	22.5%	\$1,101,437.82	43.92%	N-Running
					for Chief
					Justice
2020	2,995,072	37.1%	\$1,009,203.08	55.34%	N

In addition to being endorsed by the Ohio Democratic Party Executive Committee, she also received endorsements from local Democratic caucuses and groups and various unions and worker coalitions such as the Ohio Nurses Association, the Cincinnati Federation of Teachers, and Teamsters Local 413. She also received endorsement from Planned Parenthood Advocates of Ohio, Cleveland Mayor Justin Bibb, Columbus Mayor Andrew Ginther, and the newspaper Cleveland.com. The newspaper called her "the best-qualified candidate to lead Ohio's judiciary in a collegial, constructive manner". 100

⁹⁶ Ohio Secretary Of State, Election Results

⁹⁷ Searchable Campaign Finance Data

⁹⁸ Brunner 2021

⁹⁹ Cleveland.com Editorial Board, 2022

¹⁰⁰ Cleveland.com Editorial Board, 2022

Sharon Kennedy

Justice Kennedy first joined the court in 2012 having been elected to fill an unexpired term. She was elected to her first full term in November 2014. Before her time on the bench, Kennedy worked as a police officer at the Hamilton Police Department before graduating from the University of Cincinnati College of Law in 1991. She created the Advisory Committee to the Budget Work Group to assist with count financing, "seeing the need to bring private sector financial know-how to the government." In addition to working in both the public and private sectors, she also worked as a part-time magistrate assisting law enforcement and private citizens seeking warrants for arrest and fought on behalf of Ohio taxpayers under AG Betty D. Montgomery.

Kennedy emphasized the importance of a traditional, reliable, and restrained Ohio Supreme Court. During her campaign, she remarked that, "we live in the greatest country in the world. As Americans we are free. Free to say, write, dream, achieve, and do what we desire. Our freedom comes from our Creator and is protected against the over-reach of government by the Constitution. The only one of its kind, the Constitution guarantees our freedom by limiting and balancing the government's power among three separate, but equal branches. As a former police officer and current Justice of the Ohio Supreme Court, I took an oath to uphold the Constitution of the United States of America, the State of Ohio, and the laws of this State. With your support, I will continue to honor the Constitution by upholding the law, not creating it or legislating from the bench." Her statements on national pride, limited government power, and the economy align her with textualists and right-wing thinkers. She also emphasized the importance of a

¹⁰¹ Kennedy 2022

reliable, predictable court: "[Ohio citizens] look at the Court... as when the court in the 1990s was not predictable, the economy and Ohio suffered. And they can see in the sense of urgency that if the court turns again, that that could have a negative impact on the economy." 102

She consistently emphasized the importance of judicial restraint and refused to "legislate from the bench." She writes: "[I] believe judges say what the law says, not what it should be...It's really pretty simple. We expect judges to decide cases, particularly at the Ohio Supreme Court, and exercise restraint. Decide only the issues necessary to resolve the legal matter in front of you. Use only the text of the constitutional provision or statute or contract to distill meaning and then apply it to the facts in you case. That's it. It's very simple." Without mentioning Democrats by name, Kennedy said there is "another side" that does not share the views of Republicans. "They believe in the law, unless something else is necessary," she said. "What else could be necessary other than you want an outcome? You are desirous of an outcome that is not provided for in the law, and we don't believe in that."

She believes Ohioans have three concerns:

- "One is their God-given constitutional rights...concern about government overreach, loss of individual liberty, and freedom.
- "Secondly is always the economy...they're really feeling the concern over the inflation...gas prices, rising food costs...And the shrinkage is what they call inflation ...shrink inflation, as well, because packages of food are smaller, obviously for companies because they're also trying to make ends meet. I think the growing concern of an ever-growing workforce shortage, which people do not understand.

¹⁰² Hunnell 2022

¹⁰³ Baker 2022

Everywhere they turn, someone is looking to hire...The question is why aren't they working? I don't have answers for people when they ask that.

"And the last thing they always talk about is community safety. It wasn't so long ago, they were all sitting at home, watching American cities burn. They are concerned.
 Can that come back? What happens? They can see and witness all of the law enforcement agencies who are trying to hire now...massive number of law enforcement officers leaving service." 104

Kennedy considers herself a textualist. Textualism is the judicial ideology that documents are meant to be read plainly, looking at how individuals would have interpreted the document at the time of its writing. She explains, "if it's unambiguous as you read it, applying the common language and it makes perfect sense, then you just simply apply it to the facts." The most important of these documents to legal scholars is the Constitution. Kennedy "believe[s] the Constitution is an enduring document for all of time...I didn't need to change the Constitution in order for a new media to apply." 106

¹⁰⁴ Hunnell 2022

¹⁰⁵ Trau 2022

¹⁰⁶ Trau 2022

Kennedy Election Information 107

Table 3

Election	Number of	% of	Campaign	Percent of	Incumbent?
Year	Votes	Registered	Funding ¹⁰⁸	Vote Won	
		Voters			
2022	2,307,425	28.73%	\$1,702,841.39	56.08%	N-Running
					for Chief
					Justice
2020	2,735,041	33.88%	\$1,244,057	55.07%	Y
2014	1,828,156	23.59%	\$833,934.34	72.54%	Y
2012	2,347,060	29.39%	\$794,743.60	57.03%	N

Kennedy received endorsements from the Ohio Republican Party, local and regional Republican associations, the Buckeye Firearms Association, National Rifle Association, and Ohio Right to Life. Though originally endorsed by Cleveland.com in 2014, they revoked their support in 2020 following her comments regarding the overturning of *Roe v Wade* and unwillingness to participate in a debate. This is the only instance of publicly revoked endorsement found through this research. Kennedy signed a letter alongside fellow conservative

¹⁰⁷ Ohio Secretary Of State, Election Results

¹⁰⁸ Searchable Campaign Finance Data

¹⁰⁹ Kennedy For Ohio, 2022

¹¹⁰ Cleveland.com Editorial Board, 2022

justices Pat Fischer and Pat DeWine explaining that, "no such discussion is possible with several members of [the Cleveland.com] editorial board who have gone out of their way to denigrate and belittle nuanced legal concepts in the interest of advocating a particular policy outcome," and that she could not expect to be met with fairness and objectivity.¹¹¹

She received donations and endorsement from the religious-political association Ohio Value Voters who stated: "Justice Kennedy has consistently protected the rights of Ohio citizens in every aspect of her amazing career. As a police officer, attorney and extensive jurist, Sharon has stood strong ensuring our safety and constitutional rights." She was also endorsed by Senator Rob Portman via Twitter. 113

¹¹¹ Tobias 2022

¹¹² Ohio Value Voters Voting Guide 2022

¹¹³ Portman 2019

EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS

CASE SELECTION

Table 4

	Criminal Justice	Low-Salience	Redistricting
O'Connor	State v Froman	Cordray v Midway Motor	League of Women Voters v
2003-2022	2020	Sales	Ohio Redistricting
		2009	Commission 2022
Brunner	Dubose v McGuffey	Motorists Mutual	
2020-2022	2022	Insurance v Ironics	
		2022	
Kennedy	State v Drain	State v Turner	
2012-	2022	2020	
present			

Criminal Justice Cases

Criminal justice cases garner the most public interest of all State Supreme Court cases. Due to media cycles and an interested constituency, these cases are most likely to represent my first hypothesis, X_1 —public opinion. Liberal justices tend to focus on the rights of the accused, whereas a conservative-leaning justice focuses on just punishment and public safety. Frequently, citizens want a justice who is "tough on crime," and will show their preferences either through the media or through the ballot box. It is thought that elected justices are more responsive to these preferences since their place on the bench relies on the votes of their constituents.

Maureen O'Connor: State v Froman (2020)

CASE FACTS

State v Froman is a 2020 case regarding an appeal from a man on death row. Terry Lee

Froman, the appellant, was found guilty of aggravated murder of his ex-girlfriend Kimberly

Thomas and her son Michael Eli Mohney by a Warren County jury. The murder of Mohney took

place in Kentucky, while the kidnapping and murder of Thomas crossed state lines and took

place in Ohio.

Froman, Thomas, and Mohney lived together until Thomas ended her relationship with

Froman. After being asked to move out, Froman went to Thomas's workplace and told a

coworker, "Kim has made me lose everything, now I will make her lose everything no matter the

cost." Gunshots were heard at Thomas's residence a few days later, where Mohney's body

was found DOA. A videotape at a gas station on this same date shows a naked Thomas attempt

to run from a vehicle registered to Froman, and then Froman grabbing her by the hair and

pushing her back into the vehicle. 115 Froman's cellphone was then used to track his location,

fleeing from his home in Mayfield, Kentucky to Ohio where he was apprehended. From an

frequently called friend and police informant David Clark, where he told Clark, "[Clark]: Have

you thought about letting her go? [Froman]: Have I thought about it? No, not at all," "Man, I

already took one life, and I'm about to go ahead and take two [more]," and "I'm gonna kill her

 $^{114}Froman$ at $\{\P 5\}$

¹¹⁵ Froman at $\{\P 5\}$

dude," before the call disconnected. 116 Clark called back and was told by Froman: "She dead. I shot myself...I shot myself, and I shot her three times."117

Froman's guilt in the murders and kidnapping were not in question during the Supreme Court Case. Froman's defense attorney conceded in opening arguments: "As you're well aware of over the last several days, we are not obviously contesting that [Froman] caused the death of Ms. Thomas. He acknowledged that, he will acknowledge that, and that's what the evidence will show in this matter." Thus, the defense chose to focus on mitigation—avoiding the death penalty—rather than questioning the facts of the case. Instead, Froman's counsel focused on procedural, administrative, courtroom, and prejudicial errors such as:

- 1) Ohio does not have jurisdiction since Froman killed Mohney in Kentucky and is not a resident of Ohio, and the inclusion of those case facts in the trial regarding Thomas' murder was prejudicial;¹¹⁹
- 2) There were jurors who had expressed racial bias and bias towards the death penalty during voir dire (the process of questioning and selecting individuals to sit on a jury);¹²⁰
- 3) Froman had to wear leg shackles during the trial;¹²¹
- 4) The Prosecutor made improper comments to witnesses and called Froman by his nickname, "Tricke;" 122

¹¹⁷ *Froman* at $\{\P \ 19\}$

 $^{^{116}}$ *Froman* at $\{\P\ 17\}$

¹¹⁸ *Froman* at {¶ 140}

¹¹⁹ Froman at $\{\P 35\}, \{\P 42\}$

 $^{^{120}}$ *Froman* at $\{ \P 48 \}$

¹²¹ *Froman* at $\{\P 69\}$

 $^{^{122}}Froman$ at $\{\P\ 118\}, \{\P\ 130\}$

5) Defense counsel was ineffective due to their choice to concede guilt, failure to call enough mitigation witnesses, and the fact that they were not licensed to practice law in the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

RULING

The Ohio Supreme Court ultimately concluded that "the death sentence imposed in this case is appropriate and proportionate to death sentences that we have upheld in similar cases." ¹²³ O'Connor upheld the lower court's finding. Froman was guilty of the offense and received a death sentence. Froman has since appealed and is petitioning for Writ of Certiorari from the United States Supreme Court.

ANALYSIS

O'Connor dismissed the propositions of law in the order Froman raised them but paid special attention to the concern over the racial bias expressed by one of the jurors. Juror 49 checked the box "strongly agree" for a comment stating that "some races or ethnic groups tend to be more violent than others," then elaborating with her written statement that "statistics show more Black people commit crimes. And certain religions have violent beliefs." During small group voir dire, the prosecutor questioned her on this statement, asking: "Do you agree that race should not

 $^{^{123}}Froman$ at ¶ 186

 $^{^{124}}Froman$ at ¶ 53

play any role in the decision-making process whatsoever?" To which juror 49 responded: "I totally agree." The defense attorney did not object to juror 49's inclusion on the final jury.

The amicus brief filed by the Ohio Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers focused only on the concern of racial bias among jurors, and no other propositions of law raised by the defendant. They asserted: "racial bias can infect juror deliberations" and "simply, a person who harbors racial bias has no business sitting on a jury in any case with a defendant who is African American. The impropriety is particularly glaring in a capital case such as this one where the defendant is African American and the victim is white." The unique nature of capital punishment, and a historical pattern of race tainting the judicial process led the OACDL to insist on the reversal of the death penalty conviction.

It is interesting that O'Connor paid special note to the racial bias concern in the opinion. It was dismissed under much of the same grounds as many of the "ineffective assistance" claims and on the same basis as a juror's predisposition to vote in favor of the death penalty; "we reject Froman's claim in proposition of law No. 3 that he was denied his right to an impartial jury due to the seating of juror No. 49. For the same reason, we reject Froman's ineffective-assistance claim in proposition of law No. 4 with respect to juror No. 49." It would be simple to dismiss the racial bias claim with the same language and pay it no extra attention. However, O'Connor does address the racial bias claim in more detail. The only distinct factor is the existence of the amicus brief, so it is likely that O'Connor wanted to address the amici concerns even if she was not swayed by their content. She explained: "On the whole, we conclude that juror No. 49's responses on her general questionnaire do not show her inability to be impartial in this case,

¹²⁵ *Froman* at ¶54

¹²⁶ OACDL as Amicus Curiae, 4

 $^{^{127}}$ Froman at ¶ 67

D'Agostino 51

based on her assurance during voir dire that she could set aside her opinions on race and decide

the case based on the evidence."128 O'Connor extends the benefit of the doubt to the juror,

explaining, "[that] we have noted that prospective jurors often have difficulty articulating their

views during voir dire." This decision to uphold the death penalty, as well as the detachment

in describing Froman's crime, are both in line with O'Connor's conservative style, but it is worth

noting that she does not avoid the racial bias concerns. She also weighs the mitigating factors

and the aggravating factors with approximately the same length of analysis and weight given,

recognizing that the mitigating factors are not enough to overturn the conviction.

Additionally, it is worth noting that this case took place in 2020, a year when O'Connor

was not seeking future reelection. While she does uphold the death-penalty in this case, her

language was still empathetic and not something that could be universally described as "tough on

crime." In fact, there were no dissents in the case, meaning even the liberal justices agreed with

her decision and language.

Jennifer Brunner: Dubose v McGuffey (2022)

CASE FACTS

Dubose was one of the most widely publicized and discussed Ohio Supreme Court cases

during the 2022 election cycle, highlighting the public's interest in criminal justice cases. Justin

DuBose and codefendant Jamie Shelton were charged with the murder of Shawn Green during an

alleged robbery of marijuana in Hamilton County. 130 The case does not deal with the facts of the

¹²⁸ *Froman* at ¶ 57

¹²⁹ *Froman* at ¶ 67

¹³⁰ *DuBose* at ¶ 2

crime, instead focusing on a bail dispute. Due to his ties to the community, limited financial means, and no significant criminal record, DuBose requested a "reasonable" bail. The state asked for a bail of \$1,500,000, equal to that of Shelton's. Dubose's bail was set at \$750,000 for the murder charge and an additional \$750,000 for the aggravated robbery charge. ¹³¹ The court reduced his bail but then reinstated the original amount, which DuBose continued to appeal.

His writ of habeas corpus (a document that brings the accused before the court to ensure his imprisonment is lawful) stated: "DuBose's high bail was effectively a denial of bail, without the trial judge making any of the required statutory findings to hold a defendant without bail," and focused on the nonfinancial conditions—electronic monitoring of DuBose's location, no contact with the victim's passport, and surrendering of his passports—as effective enforcements rather that the "excessive" bail. ¹³²

The state focused on "(1) the serious nature of the crime, (2) the safety concerns expressed by the family, and (3) DuBose's alleged use of a fake ID."¹³³ Indeed, the victim's grandmother stated during an appeal hearing that "I would like you to keep his bond where it was. We don't feel safe with him out on bond…[my daughter would be] scared to death if he gets out."¹³⁴ The incident regarding DuBose's alleged use of a fake ID and flight risk referenced the fact that DuBose was arrested in Las Vegas and used a fake ID when approached by police on an unrelated matter claiming to be "Kevin Polanski" from California. ¹³⁵ DuBose countered

¹³¹ *Dubose* at \P 3

 $^{^{132}}$ DuBose at ¶ 8

¹³³ DuBose at ¶ 29

 $^{^{134}}$ DuBose at ¶ 5

¹³⁵ DuBose at \P 6

this this claim with evidence such as his frequent posts on social media showing his whereabouts and that he stayed in hotels under his own name. 136

RULING

In a majority opinion penned by Brunner, the court decided in favor of DuBose and found his bail to be excessive. Brunner and the majority found that the bail set in *DuBose* was indeed excessive, and while nonfinancial conditions such as mandatory alcohol treatment, protection orders, and limits on travel could be imposed due to public safety concerns, such concerns could not impact the bail amount for a defendant.

ANALYSIS

Dubose was a case that held considerable media attention during the 2022 Ohio Supreme Court elections, highlighting the divide between "tough-on-crime" candidates and those more empathetic to defendants. Despite the noteworthy public focus, no amicus briefs were filed. Although there could be many reasons for this, the lack of amicus briefs is worth noting. There could be no vested interest in the case due to its more procedural content (bail amounts), or the case was never anticipated to be watershed and therefore its decision—a polarizing decision in an election year—only gained attention after its publication, giving interests no reason to file briefs before the case had been decided.

 $^{^{136}}$ DuBose at ¶ 32

Brunner focused extensively on the importance of a reasonable bail to the accuse and how it upholds a defendants' rights stating: "Pretrial release not only makes it easier for an accused person to prepare a defense, it also upholds the presumption of innocence by ensuring that a person is not punished before being convicted." She further elaborated: "The sole purpose of bail is to ensure a person's attendance in court. "Bail ensures appearance. Therefore, the conditions placed on it must relate to appearance and the reasons for forfeiture to nonappearance," ¹³⁷ and that "Both the United States Constitution and the Ohio Constitution prohibit excessive bail."138

This is a notably contrary to the "tough on crime" positions held by the other two justices, who focus on empathy towards the victim or victim's family, the importance of public safety, and even to the extent of using punishment as a deterrent to other potential criminals. Those positions garner strong public support; Brunner's focus on defendant rights does not. That is not to say Brunner excuses criminals or does not believe in public safety. She said: "As explained above, public safety, although of the utmost importance, is not a factor relevant to the calculation of the bail amount, which is concerned only with ensuring the defendant's future appearance in court," ¹³⁹ and that "we do not minimize the importance of the safety concerns of the victim's family in this case." ¹⁴⁰ She instead turned to the ways in which *nonfinancial* appeals can be altered to prioritize public safety such as "restrictions on travel and association, completion of alcohol and drug abuse treatment, and orders of no contact with witnesses in the case,"141 directly referencing DuBose's appeals.

 $^{^{137}}$ *DuBose* at {¶ 11}

 $^{^{138}}$ *DuBose* at {¶ 12}

¹³⁹ *DuBose* at $\{ \P \ 31 \}$

 $^{^{140}}$ DuBose at ¶ 24

¹⁴¹ DuBose at \P 24

Brunner faced widespread backlash against her decision in the case, including from Justice Kennedy. In her dissent, Kennedy stated that, "Courts have rejected the view that bail is excessive merely because the accused cannot afford it." Additionally, due to the circumstances of his case, she argued that DuBose was not even entitled to a writ of habeas corpus since he did not prove that the previous court abused its discretion. Kennedy made it clear that bail amount is at the discretion of the court, and she did not believe the higher bail set at the beginning of his case was "unreasonable, arbitrary, or unconscionable." 143 She directly critiqued the majority, ending her dissent with: "Instead, the majority basically picks and chooses among the trial court's findings, deferring to some and rejecting others, before coming to its own conclusion that the trial court's findings that it accepts warrant a reduction of the bail amount."144

Kennedy did not leave her criticism of the *DuBose* outcome on the bench, remarking to media outlets: "As a result of that, these cases are happening all over where violent offenders are having very low bonds set because what the court then said is the only two things you can consider, what the defendant can afford and whether they're likely to come back." ¹⁴⁵ She made her "tough on crime" ideology a touchstone of her campaign for Chief Justice, and much of the Republican Party had similar messaging. In fact, Ohio Republicans pushed for an amendment to the Ohio Constitution that would require judges to consider public safety when determining bail. The amendment—known as State Issue 1 on the 2022 ballot—passed with a wide margin during the general election. 146

 $^{^{142}}$ DuBose dissent at ¶ 49

¹⁴³ *DuBose* dissent at ¶ 51

¹⁴⁴ *DuBose* dissent at ¶ 57

¹⁴⁵ Baker 2022

¹⁴⁶ Bischoff 2022

Chief Justice O'Connor, however, defended Brunner. Concurring with Brunner but

without penning an opinion, she later explained: "We must consider each case on the facts. Ohio

deserves judicial leadership that follows the law and the constitution. It deserves judicial

leadership that is free from political pressure and works to get things right." ¹⁴⁷ She went as far to

criticize her fellow Republicans' response to the ruling, explaining that "to manufacture fear and

continue a pattern of jailing the people who can least afford release doesn't protect society. It

only assures that money assures the level of freedom and civil rights that one enjoys."148

Brunner maintained a liberal perspective to the *DuBose* case, but suffered when it came

to media attention: attack ads and news articles criticizing her found a foothold before the 2022

election. 149 Although there were no verified polls to gauge official public sentiment, it is

noteworthy that those who opposed—both in the 2022 judicial and legislative elections—won

their seats using "tough on crime" language and prioritization of public safety.

Sharon Kennedy: State v Drain (2022)

CASE FACTS

Another death-penalty case, State v Drain addresses the sixteen propositions of law

brought up by the appellant Victoria Drain. Drain had offered two separate confessions, saying

one version "was a 'vague account of the murder,' while the new version was 'the whole

account."150 The case facts take details from both, but the general timeline is consistent. Drain

had planned to kill another inmate who was a child molester and sought the support of the

147 Fisher 2022, 48:17

148 Fisher 2022, 49:24

¹⁴⁹ Gaines 2022

¹⁵⁰ *Drain* at ¶ 15

victim, Richardson, whom she believed to be "easy to manipulate". ¹⁵¹ Richardson refused to help, and Drain worried he might report her plan. ¹⁵² She offered him a drug so that he would enter her cell, where she then killed him. She struck him with a ceiling fan, threatened to sodomize him with a pencil, and then stuck the pencils into Richardson's eye and "stomp[ed] it all the way in". ¹⁵³ A correctional officer followed bloody footprints that led to Drain's cell, where Richardson's body was found. ¹⁵⁴

There were two aggravating factors, the first being "prior calculation and design" and the other being Drain's existing detention for a felony. ¹⁵⁵ Although originally pleading not guilty, Drain later waived a jury trial and pleaded no contest to the indictment. ¹⁵⁶ The trial was the grounds for multiple of Drain's appeals. There was only one prosecution witness, the trooper who found Richardson's body, and two defense witnesses, one of whom was Drain's daughter who she insisted not testify. ¹⁵⁷ Drain also refused to admit her medical history of mental health history in the trial, saying: "[T]his is the time most people in similar circumstances may offer up some type of empty apology or make a pathetic plea for forgiveness while trying to capture the Court's sympathy by presenting all the troubles of my childhood and past troubles. I… have decided to spare everyone involved of [sic] those fake formalities." ¹⁵⁸

Drain claimed her defense attorney offered "ineffective assistance," the testimony from the trooper that admittedly amounted to hearsay, and the exhibits put forth by the prosecution

¹⁵¹ *Drain* at ¶ 16

¹⁵² Drain at ¶ 17

¹⁵³ *Drain* at ¶ 19

¹⁵⁴ Drain at \P 4

¹⁵⁵ Drain at \P 22

¹⁵⁶ Drain at \P 23

¹⁵⁷ Drain at \P 23

¹⁵⁸ Drain at \P 83

that she believed to be "irrelevant and prejudicial."¹⁵⁹ Additionally, Drain took issue with the process of her trial due to the COVID-19 pandemic. She contended that she was "unconstitutionally forced her to choose between two fundamental rights—i.e., the right to a speedy trial and the right to an impartial jury."¹⁶⁰

RULING

Since the defense failed to raise most of these concerns *during* the trial, especially in regards to exhibit admittance, concerns with testimony, and lack of support from her defense council, the Supreme Court dismissed all of Drain's 19 propositions of law. Quoting Drain in reference to her waiver of a jury by her peers, "Drain stated that she was not 'trying to force a death or a life sentence' but was 'simply agreeing to the truth of the facts in [her] indictment, and leaving the rest up to the 3 judge panel. No more, no less."

ANALYSIS

The conservative, "tough on crime" stance seen in this opinion is in line with Kennedy's ideology. She does, however, use subjective descriptors in multiple instances, which is not a common occurrence in textualist opinions. The insertion of these adjectives lends the opinion a somewhat personal tone. For example, she states that, "Trooper Stanfield's testimony was supported by *abundant* evidence," while Drain's assertion that she would have changed her

 $^{^{159}}$ Drain at ¶ 35, ¶ 112, and ¶ 65

¹⁶⁰ *Drain* at ¶ 50

¹⁶¹ *Drain* at ¶ 85

 $^{^{162}}$ *Drain* at ¶ 114

mind if she had been granted a stay during COVID was "highly speculative" (emphasis added). 163 Additionally, she described Drain as "complaining" five times in the opinion as opposed to "contends," "asserts," or "claims." 164 The term "complain" has a decidedly dismissive connotation, and was used only once in total in either *Dubose* or *Froman*.

Kennedy made special note of Drain's "blame" on the justice system and how it led to her actions as an adult: "Drain claimed to have been subjected to 20 hours a day of solitary confinement as a 13-year-old juvenile offender. Therefore, she continued, 'your system' had 'contribut[ed] to those experiences... which molded me in my perceptions,' and this 'in itself is my choice form of mitigation,'"165 cites Kennedy, reflecting that Drain "appeared to lay some blame on the justice system, in particular the juvenile judge who incarcerated her at age 13."166 She explained that, "the tone of Drain's unsworn statement leaves us in considerable doubt about Drain's remorse," and that "while accepting responsibility, Drain repeatedly refused to apologize for her deeds and in fact stated that she stood behind them." Kennedy explicitly cited Drain's blame of the justice system multiple times while considering mitigating factors.

Brunner dissented from Kennedy's majority opinion, stating: "I agree that appellant Victoria Michelle Drain's convictions should be affirmed. I dissent, however, from the majority's decision to reject Drain's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and to affirm her death sentence. I would therefore remand this case for a new mitigation hearing." Brunner cites Drain's medical and mental health history more extensively, whereas Kennedy cited that

 $^{^{163}}$ Drain at ¶ 105

 $^{^{164}}$ Drain at ¶ 107, ¶ 110

¹⁶⁵ *Drain* at ¶ 170

¹⁶⁶ *Drain* at ¶ 182

¹⁶⁷ *Drain* at ¶ 184

 $^{^{168}}$ *Drain* at ¶ 189

"Drain made a specific point of—indeed, seems to have taken pride in—her refusal to present any "medical mental health excuses." ¹⁶⁹ Brunner mentioned Drain's "significant trauma" including self-harm, gender dysphoria, and serious mental illnesses that the majority did not give enough weight. She additionally critiqued the majority for their dismissal of Drain's change in opinion on what mitigating evidence to include: "These statements do not establish that Drain instructed her attorneys not to present evidence of actual mental-health diagnoses made by mental-health professionals, much less that she instructed her attorneys not to present any mitigating evidence except testimony from her cousin and childhood friend." ¹⁷⁰

Brunner validated Drain's concerns, especially regarding inefficient council. She stated: "the approximately 1,900 pages of mitigation evidence Drain's attorneys compiled and submitted to the trial court as defendant's exhibit A is not as substantial as the page count might make it seem" and that, "given that Drain was facing a death sentence, more was required." This empathy towards the defendant is emblematic of her ideology as a whole. Brunner insisted: "[Drain] is not what is sometimes referred to as 'the worst of the worst." Kennedy, on the other hand, makes no such distinction between Drain and the so-called "worst of the worst."

CRIMINAL JUSTICE DISCUSSION

The criminal justice case grouping focuses on X_1 : Public Opinion, but the existence of amicus briefs in one of the cases makes X_2 : Friends of the Court relevant as well.

 $^{^{169}}$ Drain at ¶ 82

¹⁷⁰ *Drain* dissent at ¶ 194

¹⁷¹ Drain dissent at ¶ 196

¹⁷² *Drain* dissent at ¶ 197

O'Connor's decision in *Froman* had no public backlash and understandably had the most subdued language. O'Connor's future opinions shared her neutral language and more conservative stance, barely deviating from what we see in *Froman*. Similarly to O'Connor, Kennedy's decision in *Drain* was aligned with her past and future opinions and did not face public backlash.

The research does not, however, support the idea that negative public opinion would cause a change in ideology or decision-making from an unpopular justice. Brunner's opinion in *DuBose* is especially relevant here, since the decision faced noteworthy public and media backlash but her future opinions did not deviate from her ideological stance and empathetic language (such as State v Hough, State v Towne, and *In Re D.R.*).

We cannot attribute Brunner's loss nor Kennedy's victory in the 2022 election to any specific decision or stance. However, the controversy surrounding *DuBose* in the weeks and months preceding the election is relevant to include. The debate of defendants' rights versus public safety became its own issue on the ballot in direct response to the controversy with the Republican Party's introduction of State Issue 1, which ultimately passed with flying colors, garnering 77.6% of the vote. 173 Multiple media outlets, individuals, and the Republican Party all confirmed their support for Kennedy explicitly on the basis of her commitment to public safety. This supports both the hypothesis that citizens reward popular (usually "tough on crime" decisions) at the ballot box and Justices are supported by political parties for maintaining policies of which the party approves.

¹⁷³ Bischoff 2022

D'Agostino 62

Regarding amicus briefs, it does not appear that Justices were persuaded by the additional

arguments since the majority opinion did not agree with, follow the arguments of, or mirror

language used within the briefs. In *Froman*, the amicus brief did not inform the majority opinion;

the case was decided against the result vouched for by the amicus brief. Interestingly, though,

O'Connor paid special attention to the main concern addressed by the amici: racial bias. While

the brief did not impact her decision, it did impact how she wrote about the case and what points

she focused on.

Low Salience Cases

Low salience cases are court cases that garner little to no public, media, or academic

scrutiny. Usually dealing with domestic disputes, personal injury law, insurance or policy claims,

and other subject matter, the only interested parties in these cases are those directly involved in

the dispute or those who have a stake in its outcome. Interested parties are the ones with high

capacity to fund campaigns, run advertisements, and file amicus briefs, so I am looking at my

hypotheses 2 and 3: X₂: Friends of the Court, and X₃: "Show Me the Money". Political parties

and the general public do not generally engage in low-salience cases, since they involve

insurance disputes, company legal battles, and other mundane controversies of law. Of the cases

discussed in the project, only the low salience cases had one or more amicus briefs on each side

of the case.

Maureen O'Connor: Cordray v Midway Motor Sales (2009)

CASE FACTS

Cordray v Midway Motor Sales is a case that dealt with the leasing and subleasing of automobiles with tampered-with odometers. There were four parties at play in this case: General Motors Corporation, who sold vehicles, Midway Motor Sales who bought these vehicles from General Motors Corporation for sale or lease at its dealership, Modern Building Supply Inc., 174 who leased a set of vehicles from Midway Motor Sales with specified miles limits of approximately 30,000 miles, and GMAC, a financial institution associated with Midway Motor Sales. 175 The heart of the suit dealt with a discovery that occurred after GMAC had re-acquired and sold at auction many of the vehicles that had been leased to Modern Building Supply Company that many of the cars' odometers had been tampered with. 176 GMAC reported this to the Attorney General, assisted with the investigation, and either bought the vehicles back or compensated the owners for the discrepancy in mileage. 177

Midway Motor Sales had entered into a secret agreement with Modern Building Supply Company that allowed Modern Building Supply Company to exceed the 30,000-mile limit on the lease and then alter the odometers before reselling them to GMAC.¹⁷⁸ GMAC, unaware of this agreement, signed the following affidavit before reselling the vehicles:

- 1) I (we) certify to the best of my (our) knowledge that the odometer now reads

 □□□,□□□ miles and is the actual mileage of the vehicle unless one of the following statements is checked.
- 2) \Box The mileage stated is in excess of the mechanical limits.

 $^{^{174}}$ *Midway* at $\{ \P 5 \}$

¹⁷⁵ *Midway* at $\{ \P 6 \}$

 $^{^{176}}$ *Midway* at {¶ 9}

Midway at $\{ \P 9 \}$ 177 Midway at $\{ \P 9 \}$

¹⁷⁸ *Midway* at $\{\P 7\}$

3) \Box The odometer reading is not the actual mileage. ¹⁷⁹

GMAC did not check box 2 or 3. The legal question, then, was whether GMAC was responsible for the misleading odometers. The Ohio Supreme Court needed to decide whether the "Consumer Sales Practices Act" and the "Odometer and Rollback Disclosure Act" should be read as strict-liability statutes, and if this situation was exempt due to the time of the odometer tampering in relation to GMAC's ownership of the vehicles. 180

RULING

A strict-liability statute would incorporate a "knowledge elementi," i.e. the defendant knew that their actions were in violation of a specific law. O'Connor and the majority in this case held that the statutes are not strict liability, and that "liability can be imposed only if it is established that the defendant knowingly violated the statute," meaning GMAC would not be held responsible. 181 Additionally, the court addressed the "previous-owner defense" or "previous-owner argument" (the argument that GMAC would be relieved of responsibility if the tampering was done by a "previous owner;" Midway transferred ownership to GMAC after they were leased to Modern Building Supply but before the odometers were changed). 182 O'Connor held that the previous-owner defense was available regardless of whether the vehicles were previously owned at the time of the tampering, so GMAC was not responsible. 183

 $^{^{179}}$ Midway at $\{\P\ 19\}$, $\{\P\ 20\}$, $\{\P\ 21\}$ 180 Midway at $\{\P\ 11\}$, $\{\P\ 12\}$

¹⁸¹ *Midway* at $\{ \P 3 \}$, $\{ \P 38 \}$

 $^{^{182}}$ *Midway* at $\{ \P 6 \}$, $\{ \P 11 \}$

 $^{^{183}}$ *Midway* at {¶ 32}

ANALYSIS

No parties in this case contributed to O'Connor's campaign in either 2008 or 2010. Therefore, I do not find support for the "Show Me the Money" hypothesis in this case. There were, however, two amicus curiae briefs filed in this case, both on behalf of Midway Motor Sales. The brief from American Financial Services Association (AFS) and Association for Consumer Vehicle Lessors focused on the legal grounding of the case (namely critiquing the lower court's ruling that the statute should be read as strict liability) whereas National Automobile Dealers Association and Ohio Automobile Dealers Association focused instead on the economic, business, and well-being concerns that would arise from an unfavorable ruling. AFS focused primarily on a case whose precedent allowed the lower court to determine the statute to be strict liability: *Flint v Ohio Bell Tel. Co.* AFS titled a portion of their brief "The Leading Case is Wrong." O'Connor made no such assertion in her opinion, instead distinguishing, rather than overturning, *Flint.* 185

It is immediately evident that O'Connor employed a textualist approach to this case, with her language: "the intent of the law-makers is to be sought first of all in the language employed, and if the words be free from ambiguity and doubt, and express plainly, clearly and distinctly, the sense of the law-making body, there is no occasion to resort to other means of interpretation...We find that the language of [the statute] is plain and unambiguous. [It] provides as follows: 'No transferor shall fail to provide the true and complete odometer disclosures required by section 4505.06 of the Revised Code.'" O'Connor also relied on pari materia, a legal approach where a law must be analyzed in conjunction with other laws of the same subject

¹⁸⁴ AFS as Amici, 3

¹⁸⁵ Cordray at P 14

 $^{^{186}}$ *Midway* at {¶ 16}

matter. This approach emphasized O'Connor's adherence to statutory standards and precedent without as much concern for specific case outcomes. This pari materia approach also meant that O'Connor could establish legislative intent without deeply examining the implications of a certain ruling (which is usually an approach preferred by living-constitutionalists). Thus, the amicus brief from National Automobile Dealers' strong language (that it could be "devastating to a dealer," 187 "the General Assembly could not possibly have intended to put dealers, salespersons, etc., in jail or bar them from selling cars in Ohio for an innocent and unknowing violation" putting their "freedom and livelihood at stake" 188 and that it could "unfairly and unreasonably trigger criminal penalties" 189 had no bearing on O'Connor's decision.

She also focused on the importance of judicial restraint regarding the interpretation of the statute, reflective of her conservative judicial ideology. When asked to make a judgement on the temporal element of the affidavit, O'Connor instead responded: "The language employed in the previous-owner exception is plain and unambiguous. There is no temporal requirement for a transferor to qualify for the previous-owner exception. Such a requirement plainly does not exist in the statute. Therefore, there is no occasion for the court to resort to other means of interpretation. This court would *invade the province of the legislature and violate separation of powers if it rewrote the statute* to include a requirement that the previous owner be the owner of the vehicle at the time of the odometer tampering." ¹⁹⁰

^{. . .}

¹⁸⁷ NAD as Amici, 7

¹⁸⁸ NAD as Amici, 8

¹⁸⁹ NAD as Amici, 9

¹⁹⁰ Motorists Mutual at ¶ 36, emphasis added

Jennifer Brunner: Motorists Mutual Insurance v Ironics (2022)

CASE FACTS

Ironics, a company that buys and sells metal and metal waste, Owens, a glass container manufacturer, and Motorists Mutual Insurance, Ironics' insurer. ¹⁹¹ Owens purchased metal product from Ironics that it then used to make containers. However, Owens later discovered that Ironics' product contained "chrome stones" that severely impacted the stability and safety of the glass containers, meaning 1,850 of the glass containers needed to be scrapped. ¹⁹² Ironics' product had been contaminated because of its materials processor subcontracted the screening to another company that allowed the material to fall on the ground but continuing being processed until it was returned to Ironics. ¹⁹³ Owens sued Ironics for "breach of contract, breach of warranties contained in the purchase orders for the tube scale, violations of the Uniform Commercial Code, negligence, and product liability." ¹⁹⁴ Ironics sought assistance from its insurer, Motorists Mutual Insurance, since it had both a "general liability policy" and a "commercial umbrella policy."

The court was tasked with determining whether "property damage" occurred, since Motorists claimed that "tangible property" cannot be Ironics' but must belong to some other party. ¹⁹⁵ Citing the integrated-system rule, Motorists claimed that the integration of Ironics' metal product into the containers produced by Owens meant the property was still Ironics'. If

 $^{^{191}}$ Motorists Mutual at $\P~2$

¹⁹² *Motorists Mutual* at ¶ 3

¹⁹³ *Motorists* at \P 4

¹⁹⁴ *Motorists* at \P 5

¹⁹⁵ *Motorists* at \P 11

property damage did occur, the court must then decide if Motorists was responsible for the claim based on the economic-loss doctrine.

There were two amicus briefs filed for this case, one from United Policyholders on behalf of Ironics, and the Ohio Insurance Institute on behalf of Motorists Mutual Insurance. Ohio Insurance Institute insisted that: "The policy "[is] not a guarantee or contractual performance bond,"196 and that Ironics is entirely at fault: Ironics breached its contractual obligation to Owens by delivering contaminated tube ... Ironics had total control over the quality of its product—the task that all business are expected to manage to deliver conforming products— [and] failed in that task." OII extensively cited Wisconsin Pharmacal as justification for their stance. OII also criticized the lower court, saying ". To merely "assume" something is an "occurrence" is a fundamental error in the analysis." ¹⁹⁸ On the other side, United Policyholders insisted that only Ironics' interpretation of "property damage" should be held: "To hold otherwise would absolve the insurance industry of longstanding promises made to policyholders." Directly addressing OII's brief, UP argues that OII and Motorists seek to "unreasonably restrict coverage by inserting language not found in the four corners of the Policies,"200 which they argue "contradicts both longstanding rules of policy interpretation and common sense."201

¹⁰⁶

¹⁹⁶ OII as Amici, 7

¹⁹⁷ OII as Amici, 5

¹⁹⁸ OII as Amici, 9

¹⁹⁹ UP as Amici, 2

²⁰⁰ UP as Amici, 2

²⁰¹ UP as Amici, 11

RULING

The court ruled that a) property damage did occur that was "neither expected nor intended from the standpoint of the insured" and that none of the exclusions put forth by Motorists applied. Thus, Ironics was entitled to protection under Motorists' umbrella policy and Owens could rightfully seek relief.

ANALYSIS

Although not explicitly a textualist, Brunner also employed a plain meaning approach: "We apply the plain meaning of the policy's language 'unless another meaning is clearly apparent from the contents of the policy'... When contractual language is clear, we look no further than the writing itself to determine the parties' intent." Brunner also explained her overturning of precedent in more detail, specifically in a case called *Wisconsin Pharmacal* referenced by the lower court to support their decision. By overturning the decision of the lower court, this meant she was either distinguishing or overturning the cited case; she did not adhere to its precedent since "not one court in another state has followed its holding." She summed up: "Ultimately, we see no support for Motorists' interpretation of 'property damage.' Nothing in the term itself or in the term's definition in the policy indicates that damage to a multicomponent product is to be regarded as damage to the insured's product. If that were what the parties intended, Motorists could have included language in its umbrella policy making that intention clear, but it did not do so"205

 $^{^{202}}$ *Motorists* at ¶ 61

 $^{^{203}}$ *Motorists* at ¶ 8

 $^{^{204}}$ *Motorists* at ¶ 35

 $^{^{205}}$ *Motorists* at ¶ 22

Interestingly, Brunner once again offered a *solution* to the parties' concerns instead of simply passing down a ruling and leaving future actions up to the legislature or relevant parties. She wrote: "If Motorists believes that claims such as those at issue here should not be covered under the terms of its policy, it remains free to seek agreement to language indicating such in its future contracts, consistent with applicable law." While her statement is of course not legally binding, other justices did not offer this sort of practical solution. Statements like these are why "living constitutionalism" is a topic of debate; proponents believe judicial remedies and solutions are more appropriate for a changing judicial landscape, while critics find them to be overstepping judicial bounds on topics that should be left to other branches of government.

While she does not mirror language or arguments from either amicus brief, Brunner does pay special attention to *Wisconsin Pharmacal* and describes how the court defined and found, instead of just assumed, "occurrence." This reflects the findings in the criminal justice cases, where Justices call attention to certain aspects of a case addressed in an amicus brief, even if they do not change the outcome.

Kennedy wrote alongside Justice Pat DeWine, concurring with the majority in judgment only (but disagreeing on how the conclusion should have been reached). She wrote that the majority deals too much in dicta and adds unnecessary (and inapplicable) context, stating, "the majority opts to use this case to write something of a treatise on insurance law. It invokes various insurance doctrines and cites numerous cases from other jurisdictions. But while it may conceivably interest some to know that the economic-loss doctrine "prevents 'the tortification of contract law'...none of this is necessary to resolve the dispute about the meaning of a contract.

 $^{^{206}}$ *Motorists* at ¶ 61

The majority's musings are simply dicta." Essentially, she is critiquing Brunner's opinion for overstepping judicial bounds and writing on topics that are not relevant to this exact case.

Sharon Kennedy: State v Turner (2020)

CASE FACTS

This 2020 case—*State v Turner*—deals with traffic laws, regulations, and whether a police officer has "probable cause" and "reasonable suspicion" to pull over a driver who drove on—but not across—the white line on the far right side of a lane. There are two questions at issue: the statutory question of whether Turner broke the law and the Constitutional question of whether the officer was justified in stopping Turner and then arresting him.

A State Highway Patrol Trooper, who is not named in the case, stopped Turner along Old State Route 74, a two-lane, two-way road.²⁰⁸ The trooper testified that he witnessed Turner's two right tires touch the white line on the righthand side of the lane, which he referred to as the "fog line." The trial court could not see this on the officer's dash cam, but would "take the trooper at his word." Turner, who was charged with operating a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol and a marked-lanes violation, moved to suppress the evidence of his intoxication because it was obtained under a traffic stop where "the trooper did not have probable cause or a reasonable and articulable suspicion to initiate the stop." The state argued that the statute (R.C.

 $^{^{207}}$ Motorists at \P 88

 $^{^{208}}$ Turner at ¶ 5

²⁰⁹ Turner at $\P 6$, $\P 8$

²¹⁰ Turner at $\P 5$, $\P 6$

4522.33(A)(1)) stated that a vehicle may not touch the lines on the road and must remain "entirely within" the lines. 211

RULING

The court took the trooper at his word and accepted the assertion that Turner's car touched the white line.²¹² However, they held that "the single solid white longitudinal line on the right-hand edge of a roadway—the fog line—merely "discourages or prohibits" a driver from "crossing" it; it does not prohibit "driving on" or "touching" it. 213 Thus, they reversed the judgment regarding Turner's marked-lanes violation. It left the constitutional question—whether the traffic stop was lawful, which hinged on the idea that the trooper had "reasonable and articulable suspicion" that Turner had broken the law—to the lower court. 214

ANALYSIS

Given her history in law enforcement, Kennedy was an interesting choice to author this opinion. While her understanding of traffic laws made her well-equipped to lead with the statutory question, it could be a conflict of interest regarding the constitutional question. Recall that she was a police officer; she could be more forgiving of officers' mistakes since she may have experienced similar situations. Thus, her decision to return the constitutional question to the

 $^{^{211}}$ Turner at \P 13 212 Turner at \P 14

²¹³ *Turner* at \P 3

²¹⁴ Turner at \P 9

lower court—only deciding that Turner did not, in fact, break the law—rendered this concern moot.

There were two amicus briefs filed in this case. The one from David Yost, Ohio's Attorney General (OAG), focused on the statutory question (since "he (OAG David Yost) has a special interest in advising the State Highway Patrol how and when to enforce traffic laws,")²¹⁵ but also the constitutional question. He explained the situation as "the trooper lawfully stop[ping] Turner because he observed Turner breaking the law."²¹⁶ Yost argued that under "common sense" and safety concerns, Turner broke the law, but even if he had not, the trooper's action was simply a reasonable mistake of law: "When an officer makes a search or seizure based on a reasonable mistake of law, the search or seizure complies with this restriction."²¹⁷

The Ohio Association for Criminal Defense Lawyers submitted a brief, "out of concern that the client-base of the organization's membership will suffer the consequences of the national trend to permit more significant and less-justified intrusions of law enforcement to go unchecked as the meaning of the Fourth Amendment unfolds." While they did explain that Turner did not break the law, their focus was on the constitutional question at hand; they insisted the question should not be raised at all (since the State of Ohio did not "timely raise" the concern) and if it was raised, the Court should find that the trooper's search was *not* reasonable. To support this, they focused on two previous cases (State v Brown and State v Jones) and the balance between government interest and individual freedom. They cited "the Ohio Constitution's strong respect for personal privacy" and ultimately concluded that "there is in fact no legitimate state interest

²¹⁵ David Yost as Amici, 3

²¹⁶ David Yost as Amici, 1

²¹⁷ David Yost as Amici, 3

²¹⁸ OACDL as Amici, 1

²¹⁹ OACDL as Amici, 13

in violating the privacy and freedom of movement of a person who has not violated the law when no other concerns of emergency or exigency are present. In a case such as this one, where the Defendant was simply driving without violating the traffic laws, the public should expect that such a person will be permitted to continue driving unimpeded."²²⁰ They were far less forgiving of the officer's "mistake of law," explaining that: "Enforcing the traffic laws is the most basic task of law enforcement. Given the potential loss of liberty and privacy that will result from even a limited stop and investigation by the police, it is objectively unreasonable for officers not to know the most basic laws that they are duty bound to enforce."²²¹

Ultimately, these amicus briefs did not appear to impact Kennedy's decision; neither group got what they wanted. The cases referenced in the OACDL brief were *not* cited in Kennedy's opinion, and she ultimately maintained the constitutional question even if she was not the one answering it (she simply referred to the lower court). Yost's explanation of why Turner did indeed break the law were not referenced, and ultimately Kennedy overturned the lower court's decision.

LOW SALIENCE DISCUSSION

In the low salience cases, I focused on X_2 : Friends of the Court as well as X_3 : Show me the money. Amicus briefs may lead a justice to address a specific element of a case in more detail, but ultimately do not sway the justice's opinion nor inform the opinion. This does not support X_2B or X_2C (which hypothesized that a justice would echo the language and arguments

²²⁰ OACDL as Amici, 14

²²¹ OACDL as Amici, 15

of an amicus brief in either the majority opinion or dissent) since, in all the low salience cases above, the amicus briefs were either not mentioned in the majority or filed behalf of the ultimately losing party.

Additionally, I rarely found a company contributing to a judicial campaign in the years preceding their case in court. Occasionally an *employee* would contribute (usually no more than \$200) but CEOs, executives, and the company itself were not found to be major contributors. In this same vein, attorneys and municipal judges contributed to Ohio Supreme Court candidates, but this research did not show that those contributions took place immediately preceding or following a case where the attorney or judge was involved. ²²² Thus, the low salience case category did not show much support for the X₃ hypotheses.

Redistricting Case—League of Women Voters

League of Women Voters v Ohio Redistricting Commission is a unique set of cases. They offer a different perspective on judicial ideology and partisanship. Since most of the five League opinions were written per curium (with the majority opinion being released without an author and with no explicit denotation of who wrote it), it is more difficult to attribute ideas and language to a specific justice. Therefore, I rely heavily on public statements, concurring or dissenting opinions, and quotes from news sources rather than the majority opinions seen in the other two case sections. One of the most publicized and polarized cases in recent Ohio Supreme Court history, League of Women Voters is a glimpse into the more partisan or political nature of

²²² LaRose Searchable Campaign Finance Data 2008, 2018, 2020, 2022

the modern court. Thus, I am most interested in my third and fourth hypotheses here: X_3 : "Show Me the Money" and X_4 : Party Pressure.

CASE FACTS

In November 2015, Ohioans voted for a constitutional amendment that would change the process of redistricting to make it more representative and less partisan. The objective was creating "a bipartisan process with the goal of having district boundaries that are more compact and politically competitive." This spurred the creation of the Ohio Redistricting Commission assigned to adopt new voting maps after each census to better represent Ohio constituents. The Commission consisted of seven members including the Governor, the Auditor of the State, the Secretary of State, and four members appointed by the majority and minority leaders of the General Assembly. Due to the makeup of the Ohio legislature, the Commission was split 5/2 in favor of Republicans. Despite the intention to create a bipartisan process, the Commission voted on map adoption along party lines each time, rendering the adopted maps to be valid for only four years instead of the proposed ten.

Or January 12, 2022, the Ohio Supreme Court, led by Republican Chief Justice Maureen O'Connor deemed the proposed map to be unconstitutional. The Court cited that, along with other unconstitutionalities, the most prominent problem was with the Commission's inability to meet the standards set forth by Section 6 of the amendment that: "No general assembly district plan shall be drawn primarily to favor or disfavor a political party...[and] the statewide proportion of districts whose voters favor each political party shall correspond closely to the

²²³ League of Women Voters of Ohio v. Ohio Redistricting Comm., Slip Opinion No. 2022-Ohio-65.

statewide preferences of the voters of Ohio."²²⁴ This was mainly due to the fact that the Commission proposed maps with 67 Republican-leaning House seats and 32 Democratic-leaning House seats, and the projection that "under the Senate map that was adopted, the Republican candidates would win an average of 17% more seats than Democratic candidates for the same vote share"²²⁵ despite the mutually accepted statistic that showed Republicans winning 54% of vote shares and Democrats 46% across the past ten years.

The Commission continued to propose new maps, which were subsequently found unconstitutional by the Ohio Supreme Court four additional times for distinct reasons usually regarding Section 6. The Commission argued that Section 6 is "aspirational" rather than "mandatory" by creating Democratic-leaning districts that led by a smaller margin than historic standards require, qualifying them as "contested" rather than Democratic-leaning, ²²⁶ and even resubmitting previously struck-down maps at later deadlines. ²²⁷ By arguing that the court-imposed deadlines could not be implemented until all appeals were filed (within a 90-day deadline), Federal Courts "chose the best of our bad options," selecting one of the rejected maps to use for the 2022 primary and general elections. ²²⁸

There was only one brief filed in this case (which was then updated and refiled in response to the ongoing legal battle), from a coalition of nine activist organizations including The Ohio Environmental Council, Ohio Organizing Collaborative, Ohio Farmers Union, LEAD Ohio, Red Wine & Blue, OPAWL—Building AAPI Feminist Leadership, Innovation Ohio, Ohio Coalition on Black on Black Civic Participation/Ohio Unity Coalition, and Ohio Citizen Action.

²²⁴ League {¶ 46}

²²⁵ League {¶122}

²²⁶ League II

²²⁷ League V

²²⁸ Chow 2022

The brief from Ohio Advocacy Organizations—the name to recognize the collective nine groups—documented many of the same arguments as seen in the majority opinion, including: concerns of the maps unduly favoring one party; the existence of other, constitutional maps that were thrown out in favor of one favoring Republicans; and unconstitutionality under Article XIX of the Ohio Constitution. The language, however, is more descriptive and creative than that used in the majority opinion, as is typical of amicus briefs. For example, the brief urges that "Ohioans certainly do not deserve to spend more resources fighting for issues they care about simply because one political party has enshrined its power over another. When Ohio has gerrymandered maps, everyone loses," and that "the Ohio Redistricting Commission's actions affect us all, diluting the power of every vote from Lake Erie to the Ohio River." 231

Although the legal arguments were much the same, the brief focused on the real-world effects of a gerrymandered map, something the majority opinion did not emphasize. These concerns included: "When faced with the direct and present impacts of climate change, the rising costs of water and electricity, and air pollution surrounding their communities, Ohioans cannot afford to wait any longer for fair representation in Congress. Partisan gerrymandering subverts the fundamental values of democracy, not only diluting partisan power but often cracking apart communities of color. It subverts the goals of representation of the people of Ohio in Washington D.C. Ohio can only have a healthy environment if we have a healthy democracy. We can only have a healthy democracy if all Ohioans, no matter their race, class, or national origin, believe their vote actually matters." 232

²²⁹ OAC as Amici, 19, 24, and 32

²³⁰ OAC as Amici, 3

²³¹ OAC as Amici, 2

²³² OAC as Amici, 2

Maureen O'Connor

Maureen O'Connor was at the forefront of the *League* debate, both as Chief Justice of the court and also frequently the deciding vote in the decisions. She sided with the petitioners—League of Women Voters—against the Ohio Redistricting Committee every time, despite backlash from the Republican Party. She insisted it was not, nor ever should be, a partisan issue: "I believe in an independent judiciary. I always have. And whether you vote as a 'D' or an 'R' or an I when you put on the robe and take to the bench you are sworn to administer justice and follow the law."²³³ She had two main areas of focus in her public responses to the case: the rights of Ohio's voters and the need for an impartial, independent, and non-partisan judiciary.

To her first point, she explained: "voters overwhelmingly voted to amend the Ohio Constitution to end partisan gerrymandering. What voters have learned this year is that Article 11 is not living up to its promise. It did not prevent gerrymandering, and it did not prevent the use in the upcoming election on November 8th of unconstitutional maps that were drawn both for the congressional and general assembly districts. The Supreme Court had declared five times that the maps put forth were unconstitutional. The bottom line is that Article 11 has no discernable or enforceable effect to curb gerrymandering in Ohio." She frequently paralleled the rights and desires of Ohio citizens contrasted with the unconstitutional outcomes brought on by the Ohio Redistricting Commission.

This phrasing is remarkably similar to the introduction to the OAC amicus brief, which states: "Ohioans believed its elected officials would follow the will of the Ohio Supreme Court.

²³³ O'Connor 2022, 35:18

²³⁴ O'Connor 2022, 36:19

Instead, Ohioans just voted in a primary under the 2022 gerrymandered congressional map, depriving them of the fairness and justice they voted for in 2018."²³⁵ O'Connor then writes: "The comments I have gotten from the public…all positive about the redistricting. The people were paying attention. How could they not?"²³⁶

Her stance on the matter can be summed up as follows: "I think you need to read the Constitution, I think you need to read the opinions that decided each and every map that was presented by the redistricting commission, and I think that will explain where the majority was when it issued these five rulings based on five unconstitutional maps. And it had nothing to do with politics, and that is what is so disconcerting, that people want to link it to me as a registered Republican. That's my voter registration—that is all it is. It's not a guidepost, it is not a commandment, it does not affect how I do my job or how I view cases and rule on cases. It never has."

O'Connor has been "both praised and vilified for breaking with [the] Republican party over the issue of redistricting." This is understandable, since her stance against the party that nominated her (under the Ohio-Michigan Method in 2002) is rare in an era of politicization of the courts. She is not withholding in her critique of her party, saying that "they set a horrible example" for refusing to follow the rulings of the Ohio Supreme Court. In fact, her portrait was removed from GOP headquarters after her consistent Democrat-alignment in *League*, and Justices DeWine and Kennedy did not attend its unveiling.

²³⁵ OAC as Amici, 1

²³⁶ Fisher 2022, 14:44

²³⁷ Fisher 2022, 6:41

²³⁸ Fisher 2022, 5:25

²³⁹ Fisher 2022, 13:25

²⁴⁰ Tebben 2022

This case defined much of O'Connor's late career, and she intends to continue the fight after leaving the bench. One of her goals after her term ended on December 31, 2022, is to push for a voter's amendment to the Constitution where issues like this could be resolved without having elected officials on a redistricting committee. She wants a committee "not driven by politics but rather by what is fair...fair representation and justice." ²⁴¹

Jennifer Brunner

Like O'Connor, Brunner was in the majority and found each proposed map to be unconstitutional. In the backlash that followed, Brunner was outspoken in her support of the Chief Justice as well as her future endeavors. She said, "A citizen-based commission would, I think, be welcomed by most Ohioans. And so I wish Chief Justice O'Connor every success as she moves forward to do that when she takes on her new role." Brunner concurred with O'Connor's opinion in the first *League* as well as penned her own concurrence. In this concurrence, Brunner focused on something the majority did not: the Equal Protection clause of the Ohio Constitution. She explained that Article I, Section 2 provides that "All political power is inherent in the people. Government is instituted for their equal protection and benefit, and they have the right to alter, reform, or abolish the same, whenever they may deem it necessary," and that this language, broader than the Federal 14th Amendment, allows for "the equal protection and benefit of the people." This reading of the case supports not only Brunner's Democratic affiliation but also her liberal, remedy-seeking ideology as a whole. She explained further: "With

²⁴¹ O'Connor 2022, 37:27

²⁴² Tobias 2022

²⁴³ *League I* concurrence at ¶ 151

depressed voter turnout, all electors and voters are affected. This may result in doubt and lack of confidence in the democratic process—that is, whether the outcome of an election by so few voters as compared to electors is truly the will of the people...Gerrymandering and its resulting effects undermine a government that is intended for the benefit and equal protection of the people."²⁴⁴

While it can reasonably be expected that Brunner, a Democratic nominee, would side with Democrats in the case, she faced criticism for a different reason: potential conflicts of interest. Relevant to my third hypothesis, it is worth noting that Brunner has been consistently in support of and supported by League of Women Voters of Metropolitan Columbus, including recruiting members, ²⁴⁵ speaking at their events, ²⁴⁶ and collecting donations from members of the OAC (who filed the amicus brief in the case). ²⁴⁷ The Ohio GOP expressed concern over this, reporting that "two weeks and counting, Justice Brunner refuses to answer to Ohio voters on conflicts of interest with litigants" and calling for her to recuse herself. ²⁴⁸ However, it is unclear whether this poses a bona fide conflict of interest since Brunner has faced *League of Women Voters* as a defendant during her time as Secretary of State over a separate matter, ²⁴⁹ and since Brunner holds the same opinion on similar cases with plaintiffs with whom she has no connection. ²⁵⁰

_

²⁴⁴ *League I* concurrence at ¶ 156

²⁴⁵ Brunner via Facebook, 2016

²⁴⁶ Hirsch 2010

²⁴⁷ LaRose Searchable Campaign Finance Data, 2020, 2022

²⁴⁸ OH GOP, 2022

²⁴⁹ League of Women v Brunner, 2008

²⁵⁰ Nieman v Larose, 2022

Sharon Kennedy

Kennedy has accused the majority and concurrences of overstepping their judicial bounds. In her dissent, she said, "It might be inconvenient for the majority, but the plain language of Article XI, Section 9(D) limits our authority to review General Assembly-district plans,"²⁵¹ and that the amendment "gives this court an important but *limited* role in reviewing a General Assembly-district plan. The majority today, though, finds the constitutionally imposed limits unduly constraining, so it chooses to disregard them."²⁵² She cited her own majority opinion in Cleveland v State, repeating, "The purpose of our written Constitution is to define and *limit* the powers of government and secure the rights of the people."²⁵³

She also criticized what she perceived to be policy-based decision making on behalf of the majority, saying that "instead of applying the inconvenient textual limits on this court's authority set forth in Section 9(D)(3), the majority ignores them in favor of its own policy preferences."²⁵⁴ This is a weighty accusation, especially at a point where the public is losing faith in both the federal and state judiciary due to its increased politicization and polarization.

Kennedy called the issue of redistricting "the fight of our life," also referencing former US Attorney General Eric Holder by name when saying Holder and other progressive groups were trying to influence the process in Ohio. Kennedy said Holder and other groups "were fighting to put judges on the Ohio Supreme Court that would do what they're doing with

²⁵¹ *League* Dissent at ¶ 216

²⁵² *League* Dissent at ¶ 187, emphasis added

²⁵³ *League* Dissent at ¶ 206, emphasis added

²⁵⁴ *League* Dissent at ¶ 190

redistricting."²⁵⁵ Due to these comments, Brunner's campaign spokesperson called for Kennedy to recuse herself from the case.

REDISTRICTING DISCUSSION

League of Women Voters v Ohio Redistricting Commission put O'Connor, Brunner, and Kennedy in an unusual position. "The justices have found themselves front and center when typically they are supposed to remain in the background." The personal and political backlash surrounding the case reaffirms the idea that we are, indeed, in a moment of intense polarization and politicalization of the courts. The hypotheses of interest in the redistricting cases are X_3 : Show me the Money, and X_4 : Party Pressure.

When it comes to campaign finances, politicians, interest groups, and lower court judges do contribute to judicial campaigns. However, these contributions are relatively small, and rarely do these contributions come in years where the person or group is involved with a case at the Ohio Supreme Court.

Brunner and Kennedy were heralded for towing the party line, while O'Connor, the only justice who did *not* vote in favor of the political party that nominated her, was shunned and discredited. The dueling insistences of recusal only highlight this polarization further. the hypocrisy of political parties. Only *their* justices can be partisan, but the other side must recuse themselves. A reflection of an ever-growing politicization of the court, the drama surrounding the Supreme Court seems more like circus politics than ever before.

256 Rultenberg 2022

²⁵⁵ Rultenberg 2022

DISCUSSION

X₁: Public Opinion Hypotheses

Negative public opinion does not lead a Justice to change or alter their ideological stance and language, but it is relevant to their election or re-election campaign. Voters support "tough on crime" candidates with popular opinions, frequently through financial contributions or at the ballot box, and similarly withhold support from a Justice facing public or media backlash.

Table 5

Sub-Hypothesis	Analysis
X ₁ A: No deviation if no public	In the cases of Froman and Drain, the public widely
backlash	supported the justices' upholding of the death penalty. Thus,
	Justices O'Connor and Kennedy did not deviate in future
	opinions when the public already aligned with their decision-
	making
X ₁ B: Justice softens language	I did not find support for this hypothesis; the only cases with
or deviates from ideology	major "backlash" were Brunner's decision in DuBose and
following public backlash	the entirety of the League of Women Voters saga, depending
	on the political party. In no circumstance did a justice
	"soften" her language after harsh public response
X ₁ C: Voters "punish" a justice	While there is support for the first element of this hypothesis
with unpopular at the ballot	(given that Brunner lost an election directly following an
box and on the campaign	unpopular opinion in Dubose), the second prong is more
funding trail	complicated. Brunner had lower levels of overall campaign
	contributions than her competitor Kenny, however, she had
	almost double the number of individual contributors.

	Essentially, the public still supported Brunner with their
	money, but in smaller amounts.
X ₁ D: Voters support popular	The substantial electoral contributions for Kennedy's 2022
opinions at the ballot box and	campaign – taking place after immense public and party
with financial contributions	support from her dissents in DuBose and League gives
	credence to this theory, although we cannot establish
	causation from this case alone.

X₂: Friends of the Court Hypotheses

Amicus briefs did not encourage a Justice to mirror their language or use their arguments in either majority opinions or dissents. Although the data does not support the existing X_2 hypotheses, the criminal justice category did shine light on a previously unconsidered aspect of amicus briefs: even if they do not influence a justice's opinion, the justice frequently paid special attention to the concerns brought up in the brief and discussed it at length in their opinion. This is also true for Midway, where Brunner made special note of an amicus brief's argument while disagreeing with it.

Table 6

Sub-Hypothesis	Analysis
X ₂ A: no amicus briefs, no	This hypothesis – essentially a null hypothesis - is supported
deviation	because the only cases without amicus briefs, DuBose and
	Drain, aligned closely with the Justice's existing ideological
	stance.

X ₂ B: One amicus brief will	Only in <i>League</i> did data show the majority decision
mean the majority opinion will	reflecting the language in an existing amicus brief, but the
echo the language and	political nature of the redistricting battle means that this
argument seen in the brief	amicus brief overlaps with the partisan hypotheses.
	Additionally, the X ₂ hypotheses refer only nonpartisan
	interest groups whereas OAC was directly politically
	aligned. Otherwise, no cases had only one amicus brief filed
	where the brief also aligned with the outcome of the opinion.
X ₂ C: If there are two	In the low salience cases with two opposing amicus briefs,
competing amicus briefs, one	neither the majority nor the dissent reference the arguments,
will be echoed in the majority	concerns, or language used in the amicus briefs. This is true
and the other the dissent	in both <i>Midway</i> and <i>Turner</i> , where the amicus briefs had no
	discernable impact on the judicial decision.

X₃: "Show Me the Money" Hypotheses

Money is certainly a factor in the modern court environments. While individual contributions are unlikely to make a Justice "friendlier" to a specific group or individuals, higher campaign contributions on the whole are likely indicators of a won election.

Table 7

Sub-Hypothesis	Analysis
X ₃ A: No financial	Due to the ever-increasing financial engagements with the
contribution, no deviation in	courts (even O'Connor's first election in 2002 raised over
opinion-making	1.7 million in funding), ²⁵⁷ we were unlikely to see a judiciary
	unaffected by money. However, justices appeared fairly
	consistent in their decision-making and rarely did interest

²⁵⁷ Table 1

	groups make large contributions in a year the court heard a
	case pertaining to them
X ₃ B: Financial contributions	It is unlikely that any individual contributions had a
lead to a greater "friendliness"	significant impact on a justice's decision. Given that there
on the bench	are thousands of contributors to each candidate per election
	cycle, often giving less than \$1,000 in donations, the
	research presented by this thesis does not support the idea
	that individual or organization contributions have any
	significant bearing.

X₄: Party Pressure Hypotheses

Partisan pressure from both Democrats and Republicans is present on the modern Supreme Court bench. Post-SB80, there is higher campaign turnout and closer elections. Parties are likely to maintain or increase support for a Justice whose opinion aligns with party agenda, and will likewise "punish" or distance themselves if a Justice differs.

Table 8

Sub-Hypothesis	Analysis
X ₄ A: More political	This hypothesis is supported. Event considering natural
involvement – based on a	fluctuations based on election year and which positions are
higher election turnout –	being filled, Ohio Supreme Court elections have gained
means a Justice will align with	increasing numbers of voters in the post-2000 court
their nominated party	atmosphere. O'Connor saw only 1.7 million votes in 2002
	(24% of registered voters) but over 3.5 million in 2016 (45%
	of registered voters). ²⁵⁸ Kennedy, received approximately
	commensurate votes in 2012 (2.37 million) and 2022 (2.3
	million) ²⁵⁹ , even though 2012 was a presidential election

²⁵⁸ Table 1

²⁵⁹ Table 3

year and 2022 was an "off-year" that attracts significantly fewer voters. I do not consider Brunner because she only joined the bench in 2020. Both Brunner and Kennedy are more aligned with their nominating party that O'Connor. O'Connor won her election for Chief Justice with almost X₄B: More political involvement – based on a 67.6% of the vote in 2010, significantly higher than the proportion of registered Republican voters at the time. ²⁶⁰ relatively closer race - means a Justice will align with their Brunner and Kennedy's election in 2022, however, closely mimicked the partisan breakdown of the state: 56% R to nominated party 44% D.²⁶¹ (For reference, Ohioans voted 53% for Vance (R) and 46% for Ryan (D)²⁶² in the 2022 Senate Race and 54% for Trump and 45% for Biden in 2020. 263 Both Brunner and Kennedy are more aligned with their nominating party that O'Connor. X₄C: Political backing aligns In most circumstances, justices align with the beliefs of the with party-approved decisions party that nominated them. For example, the only dissenter from the bench in League was O'Connor; all other justices split (presumably) along party lines. The same can be said of the criminal justices cases, with both Kennedy and O'Connor supporting a strong "rule of law" approach whereas Brunner was more concerned with defendants' rights. This hypothesis is strongly supported by the backlash faced X₄D: Deviations from the by Chief Justice O'Connor after her decisions in the League party line means a justice loses party support case. Republican-affiliated media condemned her and her fellow Republican-nominated justices stopped affiliating themselves with her, potentially fearing that they, too, could lose party support.

²⁶⁰ Table 1

²⁶¹ Tables 2, 3

²⁶² LaRose Senate Vote Breakdown 2022

²⁶³ LaRose Vote Breakdown 2020

FUTURE RESEARCH

The fight to understand the influencing factors on judicial ideology and decision-making is far from over. While this thesis attempts to understand the impacts of public opinion, amicus briefs, financial contributions, and partisan pressure on the modern Ohio Supreme Court bench, there are still other factors to explore and other benches worth analyzing.

For example, there exists a temporal element that has yet to be explored for states with judicial elections. It is well-supported that legislators and politicians frequently change their behavior and public image to bolster support before their elections, ²⁶⁴, but less research has been done on whether this phenomenon impacts the judicial sphere as well. This could potentially explain the more subdued language in *Froman* versus the harsher critique of the defendant in *Drain*, but that is beyond the scope of this paper.

Also outside the scope of this paper, but no less worthy of deeper research and exploration, are the questions of justice, fairness, and what we expect and deserve from our courts. Is it critical to have an independent and isolated bench, or one that is accessible to the public? How do our evolving definitions of justice and equality play a role in how we select our judges? Political theorists have grappled with definitions of justice for centuries, and the debate will continue for many more. These philosophical conversations need to be further developed alongside empirical studies of the real-world impacts of the judicial branch.

_

²⁶⁴ Conconi et. al., Jones 2021

Additionally, it is worthwhile to explore other states' benches through this qualitative, process-tracing methodology. Since many states have variation in selection, a cross-referencing approach would be beneficial to understand the impacts of different selection methods. Federal courts would benefit from this kind of analysis as well, but my research has shown that Federal courts tend to get much greater attention in the public and academic spheres than the oft-ignored state courts.

Years from now, it would be beneficial to understand how State Bill 80 (SB80) and the *League of Women Voters* cases impact Ohio in the longer-term. Will there continue to be increased spending on judicial elections and closer races, as scholars hypothesize? Since this thesis explores only the transitional period between the Ohio-Michigan method of selection and Ohio's new, fully partisan process, similar research on different periods in Ohio judicial history (as well as into the future) could help give a more contextualized understanding.

CONCLUSION

State Supreme Courts offer vital insights into judicial culture and politics, and Ohio is no exception I have illustrated how financial contributions, political party affiliation, and public or media attention can all impact judicial decision-making in noteworthy ways. Indeed, "tough-on-crime" stances are still championed by the public and Justices face serious risk if they deviate from their appointing-party's expectations. The research presented in this thesis is not only relevant to the three justices and seven main cases discussed here, but to legal scholarship as a whole. Ohio's movement from Ohio-Michigan style selection to fully-partisan elections is only

one example of a dangerous trend of politicization sweeping our court system. The support for the party pressure hypotheses contribute to scholarship that suggests that election-based selection methods leave benches more vulnerable to partisanship. As our country becomes polarized, we risk our judiciary—the independent branch supposed to temper partisan fighting—doing so as well. If public opinion, money, and politics have infiltrated Ohio's highest court, a deep understanding of the court system is more critical than ever.

WORKS CITED

- Ashley, K. (2017). Models for Predicting Legal Outcomes. In Artificial Intelligence and Legal Analytics: New Tools for Law Practice in the Digital Age (pp. 107-126). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781316761380.004
- Anderson, Cameron D., et al. "Us versus Them: Do the Rules of the Game Encourage Negative Partisanship?" *European Journal of Political Research*, vol. 61, no. 4, 2021, pp. 1060–1079., https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6765.12485.
- Atske, Sara. "Large Shares of Voters Plan to Vote a Straight Party Ticket for President, Senate and House." Pew Research Center U.S. Politics & Dolitics. Pew Research Center, May 25, 2021. https://www.pewresearch.org/politics/2020/10/21/large-shares-of-voters-plan-to-vote-a-straight-party-ticket-for-president-senate-and-house/.
- Baker, Jon. "Chief Justice Candidate Emphasizes Importance of Ohio Supreme Court Races." Times Reporter. The Times-Reporter, July 28, 2022. https://www.timesreporter.com/story/news/2022/07/28/chief-justice-candidate-emphasizes-importance-supreme-court-races/10172004002/.
- Barber, Kathleen. "Ohio Judicial Elections—Nonpartisan Premises with Partisan Results." *Vol.* 32, Ohio State Law Journal, 1971, https://kb.osu.edu/bitstream/handle/1811/69201/OSLJ_V32N4_0762.pdf.
- Baum, Lawrence. *The Puzzle of Judicial Behavior*. University of Michigan Press, 1997. https://doi.org/10.3998/mpub.14435.
- Bennett, Andrew, and Jeffrey T. Checkel, eds. 2014. *Process Tracing: From Metaphor to Analytic Tool*. Strategies for Social Inquiry. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9781139858472.
- Bischoff, Laura A. "What to Know about Ohio Issue 1 on November 2022 Ballot." The Columbus Dispatch. The Columbus Dispatch, November 8, 2022. https://www.dispatch.com/story/news/politics/elections/2022/09/20/election-2022-ohio-state-issue-1-what-to-know/67029882007/.
- Bonica, Adam, and Maya Sen. "Estimating Judicial Ideology." Journal of Economic Perspectives. JSTOR, 2021.https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257%2Fjep.35.1.97.
- Bonneau, Chris W. and Cann, Damon M., The Effect of Campaign Contributions on Judicial Decisionmaking (February 4, 2009). Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1337668 or https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1337668
- Brooks January 10, Arthur. "Healthy Competition." Harvard Kennedy School, January 10, 2020. https://www.hks.harvard.edu/faculty-research/policy-topics/democracy-governance/arthur-brooks-healthy-competition.
- Brunner, Jennifer. "My Platform." Justice Jennifer Brunner for Chief Justice, Ohio Supreme Court. Jennifer Brunner Committee, 2021. https://www.justicebrunner.com/my-platform.
- Brunner, Jennifer. 2016. "Seeking Volunteers." Facebook. September 21, 2016. https://www.facebook.com/BrunnerCommittee/posts/10154494611784326.
- Canes-Wrone, Brandice & Clark, Tom & Semet, Amy. (2018). Judicial Elections, Public Opinion, and Decisions on Lower-Salience Issues. Journal of Empirical Legal Studies. 15. 10.1111/jels.12196.
- Canes-Wrone, Brandice, Tom S. Clark, and Jason P. Kelly. "Judicial Selection

- and Death Penalty Decisions." American Political Science Review 108, no. 1 (2014): 23–39. doi:10.1017/S0003055413000622.
- Cann, Damon M. 2007. "Justice for Sale? Campaign Contributions and Judicial Decisionmaking." State Politics and Policy Quarterly 7 (3): 281–97. https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ijh&AN=58.3832&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Cann, Damon M, and Teena Wilhelm. "Case Visibility and the Electoral Connection in State Supreme Courts." Sage Journals. American Politics Research, February 2, 2011. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1532673X10385778.
- Center for Professional Responsibility. "Model Code of Judicial Conduct." Americanbar.org.

 American Bar Association, 2020.

 https://www.americanbar.org/groups/professional_responsibility/publications/model_code_of_judicial_conduct/.
- Chow, Andy. "A Timeline of Ohio's Redistricting Saga ." The Statehouse News Bureau . WOSU, May 13, 2022. https://news.wosu.org/politics-government/2022-05-13/a-timeline-of-ohios-redistricting-saga.
- Cleveland.com Editorial Board. "Jennifer Brunner for Chief Justice of the Ohio Supreme Court: Endorsement Editorial." Cleveland.com. The Plain Dealer, September 25, 2022. https://www.cleveland.com/opinion/2022/09/jennifer-brunner-for-chief-justice-of-the-ohio-supreme-court-endorsement-editorial.html.
- Conconi, Paola, Giovanni Facchini, and Maurizio Zanardi. "Policymakers' Horizon and Trade Reforms: The Protectionist Effect of Elections." Journal of International Economics 94, no. 1 (2014): 102–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinteco.2014.06.006.
- CPA Staff Writer. "Ohio Supreme Court: Society Endorses DeWine, Fischer." Ohio Society of CPAs, 2020. https://ohiocpa.com/for-the-public/news/2020/07/31/ohio-supreme-court-society-endorses-dewine-fischer.
- Devins, Neal and Mansker, Nicole, "Public Opinion and State Supreme Courts" (2010). Faculty Publications. 1169. https://scholarship.law.wm.edu/facpubs/1169
- Epstein, Lee, et al. "Comparing Judicial Selection Systems." William and Mary Bill of Rights Journal, vol. 10, no. 1, 2001, pp. 7–36.
- Falleti, Tulia G. "Process Tracing of Extensive and Intensive Processes." *New Political Economy*, vol. 21, no. 5, 2016, pp. 455–462., https://doi.org/10.1080/13563467.2015.1135550.
- Fischer, Patrick, David Hejmanowski, Kylie Conley, and Ronald Wadlinger. "The Modern Courts Amendment at 50." Ohio Lawyer. Ohio Bar, December 20, 2019. https://www.ohiobar.org/member-tools-benefits/practice-resources/practice-library-search/practice-library/2019-ohio-lawyer/the-modern-courts-amendment-at-50/.
- Fisher, Ann. "All Sides Maureen O'Connor, Chief Justice for the Ohio Supreme Court." WOSU News. WOSU RADIO, December 12, 2022. https://news.wosu.org/show/all-sides-with-ann-fisher/2022-12-12/maureen-oconnor-chief-justice-for-the-ohio-supreme-court.
- Flango, Victor Eugene, and Craig R. Ducat. "What difference does method of judicial selection make? Selection Procedures in State Courts of Last Resort." *The Justice System Journal*, vol. 5, no. 1, 1978, pp. 25–44.
- Frost, Amanda, and Stefanie A. Lindquist. "COUNTERING THE MAJORITARIAN DIFFICULTY." Virginia Law Review 96, no. 4 (2010): 719–97. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20722456.

- Gaines, Jim. n.d. "Bar Association Decries Supreme Court Ad as False; Republican Group Doubles Down." Dayton-Daily-News. Accessed March 14, 2023. https://www.daytondailynews.com/local/bar-association-decries-supreme-court-ad-as-false-republican-group-doubles-down/SKO2LFGO2NG2ZP5GK4F53UFEX4/.
- Geiger, Roger. "Small Business Endorses O'Connor, DeWine & Fischer in Supreme Court Races." NFIB. National Federation of Independent Business Ohio, June 15, 2016. https://www.nfib.com/content/nfib-in-my-state/elections/small-business-endorses-oconnor-dewine-fischer-in-supreme-court-races-74298/.
- Geyh, Charles Gardner. "Methods of Judicial Selection & Their Impact on Judicial Independence." *Daedalus*, vol. 137, no. 4, 2008, pp. 86–101.
- Gibson, James L. "Challenges to the Impartiality of State Supreme Courts: Legitimacy Theory and 'New-Style' Judicial Campaigns." The American Political Science Review 102, no. 1 (2008): 59–75. http://www.jstor.org/stable/27644498.
- Goldberg, Deborah and Craig Holman. "The New Politics of Judicial Elections 2002." Open Society Foundations. Justice at Stake Campaign, May 2004.

 https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/new-politics-judicial-elections-2002.
- Hanssen, F. Andrew. "The Effect of Judicial Institutions on Uncertainty and the Rate of Litigation: The Election Versus Appointment of State Judges." *The Journal of Legal Studies*, vol. 28, no. 1, 1999, pp. 205–32.
- Hirsch, Joan. "Secretary of State Jennifer Brunner Speaks at League Event the Lakewood Observer." n.d. Lakewoodobserver.com. Accessed February 21, 2023. https://lakewoodobserver.com/read/2010/01/26/secretary-of-state-jennifer-brunner-speaks.
- "Hon. Maureen O'Connor." List of Contributors. The Federalist Society, 2010. https://fedsoc.org/contributors/maureen-o-connor.
- Hunnell, Carl. "Justice Sharon Kennedy: A Conversation about the Ohio Supreme Court Chief Justice Role." Richland Source, August 22, 2022. https://www.richlandsource.com/news/elections/justice-sharon-kennedy-a-conversation-about-the-ohio-supreme-court-chief-justice-role/article_dbb1ee2e-21b3-11ed-ab51-afbc20e20ae6.html.
- Jacobi, Tonja and Sag, Matthew, Taking the Measure of Ideology: Empirically Measuring Supreme Court Cases (2009). APSA 2009 Toronto Meeting Paper, Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1450859
- Jacoby, William G. "Levels of Measurement and Political Research: An Optimistic View." American Journal of Political Science 43, no. 1 (1999): 271–301. https://doi.org/10.2307/2991794.
- Jefferson, Thomas. "Declaration of Independence: A Transcription." America's Founding Documents, U.S. National Archives and Records Administration, last modified June 8, 2022, https://www.archives.gov/founding-docs/declaration-transcript.
- Johnsen, Diane, Building a Bench: A Close Look at State Appellate Courts Constructed by the Respective Methods of Judicial Selection (October 3 2016). 53 San Diego L. Rev. 829 (2016), Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2842013.
- Jones, Garett. "Chapter 2." Essay. In 10% Less Democracy: Why You Should Trust Elites a Little More and the Masses a Little Less. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, 2021. "Judicial Selection in the States History of Reform Efforts." 2014. October 2, 2014.

- http://web.archive.org/web/20141002185425/http://www.judicialselection.us/judicial_selection/reform_efforts/formal_changes_since_inception.cfm?state=.
- Kane, Jenna Becker. 2017. "Lobbying Justice(s)? Exploring the Nature of Amici Influence in State Supreme Court Decision Making." *State Politics & Policy Quarterly* 17 (3). Cambridge University Press: 251–74. doi:10.1177/1532440017697174.
- Kang, Michael S., and Joanna M. Shepherd. "Partisanship in State Supreme Courts: The Empirical Relationship between Party Campaign Contributions and Judicial Decision Making." *The Journal of Legal Studies* 44, no. S1 (2015): S161–85. https://doi.org/10.1086/682690.
- Kennedy, Sharon. Kennedy for Ohio. Kennedy for Ohio, 2022. http://kennedyforohio.com/. Kowal, J. E. (2016). *Judicial selection for the 21st Century*. Brennan Center for Justice at New York University School of Law.
- LaRose, Frank. "Election Results and Data." Ohio Secretary of State. Accessed October 17, 2022. https://www.ohiosos.gov/elections/election-results-and-data/.
- LaRose, Frank. "General Transaction Search Searchable Campaign Finance Data." Ohio Secretary of State, 2022. https://www6.ohiosos.gov/ords/f?p=CFDISCLOSURE.
- Martin, Andrew D, and Kevin M Quinn. "Dynamic Ideal Point Estimation via Markov Chain Monte Carlo for the US Supreme Court, 1953-1999." Martin-Quinn scores: Measures. Political Analysis, 2002. https://mqscores.lsa.umich.edu/measures.php.
- McDonald, Jay. "'O'Connor Has Unmatched Administrative Experience'." Letter of Endorsement. Springfield News Sun, October 7, 2010. https://www.springfieldnewssun.com/lifestyles/philosophy/connor-has-unmatched-administrative-experience/fu5Kyi3fq6gDLXN8tffzJL/.
- Moyer, Thomas J. "Justice Speeches." Supreme Court of Ohio. The Ohio Judicial System, October 11, 2005. https://www.supremecourt.ohio.gov/courts/judicial-system/supremecourt-of-ohio/justice-speeches/thomas-moyer/reform-ohios-judicial-selection-system.
- Nelson, Michael J., Rachel Paine Caufield, and Andrew D. Martin. 2013. "OH, MI: A Note on Empirical Examinations of Judicial Elections." *State Politics & Policy Quarterly* 13 (4): 495–511. https://doi.org/10.1177/1532440013503838.
- "O'Connor vs. Black: How We Chose." Buckeye Firearms Association, 2002. https://www.buckeyefirearms.org/oconnor-vs-black-how-we-chose.
- O'Connor, Maureen. "State of the Judiciary Address." The Ohio Channel. Supreme Court of Ohio & The Ohio Judicial System, September 15, 2022. https://ohiochannel.org/video/state-of-the-judiciary address-september-15-2022.
- Ohio Value Voters. "2022 Voter Guide." 2022. https://ohiovaluevoters.org/2022-voter-guide/.

 Pavone, Tommaso, and Øyvind Stiansen. 2021. "The Shadow Effect of Courts: Judicial Review and the Politics of Preemptive Reform." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 3780005.

 Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3780005.
- Portman, Rob. "Proud to Show Support." Twitter. Twitter, October 30, 2019. https://twitter.com/robportman/status/1189624325722333185.
- Postell, Samuel, and Luke Seeley. "State Partisanship." Ballotpedia: State Courts . Ballotpedia, June 2020. https://ballotpedia.org/Ballotpedia Courts: State Partisanship.
- Pozen, David. "The Irony of Judicial Elections." *Columbia Law Review*, vol. 108, no. 2, 2008, pp. 265–330. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/40041759.

- Reddick, Anna Malia. "Judging the Quality of Judicial Selection Methods: Merit Selection, Elections, and Judicial Discipline." American Judicature Society, 2010, pp. 1-7. Crossref, doi:10.2139/ssrn.2731018.
- Roberts, Julian V. "Public Opinion, Crime, and Criminal Justice." Crime and Justice 16 (1992): 99–180. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1147562.
- Rultenberg, Josh. "Legal Analyst Discusses Ohio Justice Kennedy's Redistricting Comments." Analyst discusses Ohio Justice's redistricting comments, March 15, 2022. https://spectrumnews1.com/oh/columbus/news/2022/03/15/legal-analyst-discusses-ohio-justice-kennedy-s-redistricting-comments.
- Salvagni, Brian Cyril (1987) "Merit Selection: Does It Meet the Burden of Proof in Ohio?," *University of Dayton Law Review*: Vol. 12: No. 2, Article 10. Available at: https://ecommons.udayton.edu/udlr/vol12/iss2/10
- Segal, Jeffrey A., and Albert D. Cover. 1989. "Ideological Values and the Votes of U.S. Supreme Court Justices." *American Political Science Association*, vol. 2: 557-565. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1962405.
- Segal, Jeffrey A., and Albert D. Cover. "Ideological Values and the Votes of U.S. Supreme Court Justices." *The American Political Science Review* 83, no. 2 (1989): 557–65. https://doi.org/10.2307/1962405.
- Schwartz, R. A., & Straus, S. (2018). What drives violence against civilians in civil war? Evidence from Guatemala's conflict archives. Journal of Peace Research, 55(2), 222–235. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343317749272
- Shepherd, Joanna, and Michael Kang. 2016. "Partisan Justice | ACS." American Constitution Society. April 9, 2016. https://www.acslaw.org/analysis/reports/partisan-justice/.
- Shugerman, Jed Handelsman. *The People's Courts: Pursuing Judicial Independence in America*. Cambridge (Massachusetts): Harvard University Press, 2012.
- Solberg Rorie Spill, Waltenberg Eric N.. 2006. "Why Do Interest Groups Engage the Judiciary? Policy Wishes and Structural Needs." *Social Science Quarterly* 87 (3): 558-72.
- Solum, Lawrence B. "Judicial Selection: Ideology versus Character." *Cardozo Law Review*, vol. 26, no. 2, 2004, pp. 659–89. *Hein Online*, doi:10.2139/ssrn.516585.
- Staff Writer. "Endorsement: O'Connor, Lanzinger for Ohio Supreme Court." The Columbus Dispatch. The Columbus Dispatch, October 17, 2010.

 https://www.dispatch.com/story/opinion/columns/2010/10/17/endorsement-o-connor-lanzinger-for/24179442007/.
- Staff Writer. "State GOP Leaders Back O'Connor for Chief Justice." The Columbus Dispatch. The Columbus Dispatch, December 15, 2009. https://www.dispatch.com/story/news/2009/12/15/state-gop-leaders-back-o/23771455007/.
- Stevenson, Adlai. "Reform' and Judicial Selection." *American Bar Association*, vol. 64, no. 11, 1978, pp. 1683–85. *JSTOR*, www.jstor.org/stable/20745455.
- Sutton, Jeffrey S. 51 Imperfect Solutions: States and the Making of American Constitutional Law. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2020.
- Tarr, G. Alan. "2. Institutionalizing Judicial Independence and Accountability" In Without Fear or Favor: Judicial Independence and Judicial Accountability in the States, 38-67. Redwood City: Stanford University Press, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1515/9780804783507-003.
- The Supreme Court of Ohio & Ohio Judicial System. History of the Supreme Court of Ohio:

- *Timeline*. Columbus, OH: 2022. Accessed September 7, 2022. Https://www.supremecourt.ohio.gov/SCO/timeline/default.asp
- Tobias, Andrew J. 2019. "With Control of Ohio Supreme Court up for Grabs in 2020, Democrat Jennifer Brunner Announces Run." Cleveland.com, August 20, 2019. https://www.cleveland.com/open/2019/08/with-control-of-ohio-supreme-court-up-for-grabs-in-2020-democrat-jennifer-brunner-announces-run.html.
- Tobias, Andrew J. 2022. "Ohio Supreme Court Justice Jennifer Brunner Criticizes State Issue 1." Cleveland. September 21, 2022. https://www.cleveland.com/news/2022/09/ohio-supreme-court-justice-jennifer-brunner-criticizes-state-issue-1.html.
- Trau, Morgan. "Ohio Supreme Court's Chief Justice Candidates Have Vastly Different Backgrounds, Ideologies, Priorities." News 5 Cleveland WEWS. News 5 Cleveland WEWS, October 3, 2022. https://www.news5cleveland.com/news/politics/ohio-politics/ohio-supreme-courts-chief-justice-candidates-have-vastly-different-backgrounds-ideologies-priorities.
- "Two Weeks and Counting, Justice Brunner Refuses to Answer to Ohio Voters on Conflicts of Interest with Litigants." Ohio Republican Party. ohiogop.org, 2022.

 https://www.ohiogop.org/two-weeks-and-counting-justice-brunner-refuses-to-answer-to-ohio-voters-on-conflicts-of-interest-with-litigants/.
- Waltenburg, Eric N., and Charles S. Lopeman. 2000 "Tort Decisions and Campaign Dollars." Southeastern Political Review 28:241–63.
- Yom, Sean. 2015. "From Methodology to Practice: Inductive Iteration in Comparative Research." n.d. Accessed October 23, 2021. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0010414014554685.
- Zaccari, *Judicial Elections: Recent Developments, Historical Perspective, and Continued Viability*, 8 RICH. J.L. & PUB. INT. 138 (2004). Available at: https://scholarship.richmond.edu/jolpi/vol8/iss1/9
 https://scholarship.richmond.edu/jolpi/vol8/iss1/9

Cases and Legal Documents Cited

Brief for Ohio Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers as Amicus Curiae, State v Froman, Ohio No. 2017-0938.

Brief for American Financial Services Association and Association for Consumer Vehicle Lessors as Amicus Curiae, Cordray v Midway Motor Sales, Ohio No. 08-1451.

Brief for National Automobile Dealers Association and Ohio Automobile Dealers Association as Amicus Curiae, Cordray v Midway Motor Sales, Ohio No. 08-1451.

Brief for the Ohio Insurance Institute as Amicus Curiae, 346 Motorists Mutual Insurance Company v Ironics Inc. Ohio No. 2020-0306.

Brief for United Policyholders as Amicus Curiae, 346 Motorists Mutual Insurance Company v Ironics Inc. Ohio No. 2020-0306.

Brief for Ohio Attorney General David Yost as Amicus Curiae, State of Ohio v Ryan Turner, Ohio No. 2019-1674.

Brief for Ohio Association for Criminal Defense Lawyers as Amicus Curiae, State of Ohio v Ryan Turner, Ohio No. 2019-1674.

Brief for Ohio Advocacy Organizations as Amicus Curiae League of Women Voters v Ohio Redistricting Commission, Ohio No. 2022-0303.

Caperton v Massey, 556 U.S. 868 (2008)

Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310 (2010)

Cleveland v. State, 157 Ohio St.3d 330, 2019-Ohio-3820

DuBose v. McGuffey, 168 Ohio St.3d 1, 2022-Ohio-8.

Flint v. Ohio Bell Tel. Co. (1982), 2 Ohio App.3d 136, 2 OBR 150, 440 N.E.2d 1244 In re D.R., Slip Opinion No. 2022-Ohio-4493.

League of Women Voters of Ohio v. Ohio Redistricting Comm., Slip Opinion No. 2022-Ohio-65.

League of Women Voters of Ohio v. Brunner, 548 F.3d 463 (6th Cir. 2008).

Motorists Mut. Ins. Co. v. Ironics, Inc., Slip Opinion No. 2022-Ohio-841.

Neiman v. LaRose, Slip Opinion No. 2022-Ohio-2471.

O.H. Const. 1802.

O.H. Const. 1851.

Senate Bill 80, Require certain judicial candidates have party ballot designation, Vol. 134, Gavarone, 2020, https://www.legislature.ohio.gov/legislation/134/sb80.

State ex rel. Cordray v. Midway Motor Sales, Inc., 122 Ohio St.3d 234, 2009-Ohio-2610.

State v. Drain, Slip Opinion No. 2022-Ohio-3697.

State v. Froman, 162 Ohio St.3d 435, 2020-Ohio-4523.

State v. Froman, 162 Ohio St.3d 435, 2020-Ohio-4523, cert. denied, (U.S. ____ Oct. 2020).

State v. Gardner, 135 Ohio St.3d 99, 2012-Ohio-5683.

State v. Hough, Slip Opinion No. 2022-Ohio-4436.

State v. Mutter, 150 Ohio St.3d 429, 2017-Ohio-2928.

State v. Towns, Slip Opinion No. 2022-Ohio-3632.

State v. Turner, Slip Opinion No. 2020-Ohio-6773.

State v. Warren, 118 Ohio St.3d 200, 2008-Ohio-2011.

Republican Party v. White - 536 U.S. 765, 122 S. Ct. 2528 (2002).